Journal of Advanced Research 54 (2023) 271-292



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Advanced Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jare

# A review of biological targets and therapeutic approaches in the management of triple-negative breast cancer



Hitesh Kumar<sup>a</sup>, N. Vishal Gupta<sup>a</sup>, Rupshee Jain<sup>b</sup>, SubbaRao V. Madhunapantula<sup>c</sup>, C. Saravana Babu<sup>d</sup>, Siddharth S. Kesharwani<sup>e</sup>, Surajit Dey<sup>f</sup>, Vikas Jain<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Pharmaceutics, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru 570015, India

<sup>b</sup> Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru 570015, India

<sup>c</sup> Department of Biochemistry, Centre of Excellence in Molecular Biology & Regenerative Medicine, JSS Medical College, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru 570015,

India

<sup>d</sup> Department of Pharmacology, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru 570015, India

<sup>e</sup> Roseman University of Health Sciences, College of Pharmacy, South Jordan, UT, USA

<sup>f</sup>Roseman University of Health Sciences, College of Pharmacy, Henderson, NV, USA

# HIGHLIGHTS

- This review addresses the major contributory factors responsible for chemoresistance and poor prognosis in TNBC.
- Diverse TME, overexpression of transporters, genetic and epigenetic changes play a crucial role.
- Alteration of the cell signaling pathways and cancer stem cells (CSCs) help in chemoresistance development.
- Blockade of multiple cell signaling pathways and receptors are potential to inhibit TNBC progression.
- Therapeutic modalities including reversal of chemoresistance are broadly discussed.

# GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



Abbreviations: AKT, Ak strain transforming; ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase; AR, Androgen receptor; ABC, ATP-binding cassette; ABCB5, ATP-binding cassette; member B5; BL1, Basal-like1; BL2, Basal-like 2; BC, Breast cancer; BRCP, breast cancer resistance protein; CAAs, Cancer-associated adipocytes; CAFs, Cancer-associated fibroblasts; CSCs, cancer stem cells; CNTs, Carbon nanotubes; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; pCR, complete pathologic response; CD, Cluster of diffraction; DTX, docetaxel, DOX, doxorubicin; DMT, DNA methyltransferasem; EPR, enhanced permeability and retention; EGFR, endothelial growth receptor factor; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition; ER, estrogen receptors; ECM, extracellular matrix; FGFR, Fibroblast growth factor receptor; FA, folic acid; FR, Folate receptor; GLUT, glucose transporters; GNPs, Gold nanoparticles; Hh, hedgehog; HOla, H-ferritin nanocage; HAT, histone acetyl transferase; HDAC, histone deacetylase; HMT, histone methyl transferase; HER-2, human epidermal growth factor-2; HA, Hyaluronic acid; HIF-1α, hypoxia-inducible factor-1α; IM, immune modulatory; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; LAR, luminal androgen receptor; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; MASCs, mammary stem cells; MTX, methotrexate; MSL, mesenchymal stem-like; miRNA, microRNA; mAbs, monoclonal antibody; MDR, multidrug resistance; MRP-1, multidrug resistance protein-1; NPs, nanoparticles; nRTKs, nonreceptor tyrosine kinases; LbL, layer by layer; OXPHOS, oxidative phosphorylation; PTX, paclitaxel; P-gp 1, P-glycoprotein 1; PI3K, Phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PIP2, phosphatidylinositol (3,4)P2; PIP3, phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)P3; PDT, photodynamic therapy; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; MEH-PPV, poly[2-methoxy-5-(2-ethyl-hexyloxy)-1,4-phenylenevinylene]; PAMAM, polyamidoamine; PEG, polyethylene glycols; PARP, Poly ADP-ribose, Polymerase; PARPi, poly ADP-ribose polymerase Enzymes inhibitors; PLA, poly lactic acid; PLGA, poly lactic-coglycolic acid; PR, progesterone receptors; PD-1, programmed cell death-1; PD-L1, programmed cell death-1 ligand; QDs, quantum dots; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RTKs, receptor tyrosine kinases; SMO, smoothened; SOX2, SRY-box; SPIO-NPs, Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles; α-TOS, α-Tocopheryl succinate; TFR, transferrin receptors; TFs, transcription factors; TGF-β, transforming growth factor-beta; TNBC, triple negative breast cancers; TAMs, tumor-associated macrophages; TILs, tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes; TME, tumor microenvironment; TRAP-1, tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein-1; TNM, tumor-node metastasis stages; TKIs, tyrosine kinase inhibitors; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; Wnt, Wingless-related integration site; GLI, zinc finger protein.

Peer review under responsibility of Cairo University. \* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: vikasjain@jssuni.edu.in (V. Jain).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2023.02.005

H. Kumar, N. Vishal Gupta, R. Jain et al.

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 November 2022 Revised 23 January 2023 Accepted 9 February 2023 Available online 14 February 2023

#### Keywords:

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) Chemoresistance Cancer stem cells Epigenetics Tumor microenvironment Therapeutic modality

# ABSTRACT

*Background:* Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is a heterogeneous, aggressive phenotype of breast cancer with associated chemoresistance. The development of chemo- or radioresistance could be attributed to diverse tumor microenvironments, overexpression of membrane proteins (transporters), epigenetic changes, and alteration of the cell signaling pathways/genes associated with the development of cancer stem cells (CSCs).

Aim of review: Due to the diverse and heterogeneous nature of TNBC, therapeutic response to the existing modalities offers limited scope and thus results in reccurance after therapy. To establish landmark therapeutic efficacy, a number of novel therapeutic modalities have been proposed. In addition, reversal of the resistance that developed during treatment may be altered by employing appropriate therapeutic modalities. This review aims to discuss the plethora of investigations carried out, which will help readers understand and make an appropriate choice of therapy directed toward complete elimination of TNBC. *Key scientific concepts of review:* This manuscript addresses the major contributory factors from the tumor microenvironment that are responsible for the development of chemoresistance and poor prognosis. The associated cellular events and molecular mechanism-based therapeutic interventions have been explained in detail. Inhibition of ABC transporters, cell signaling pathways associated with CSCs, and epigenetic modification offers promising results in this regard. TNBC progression, invasion, metastasis and recurrence can also be inhibited by blocking multiple cell signaling pathways, targeting specific receptors/epigenetic targets, disrupting bioenergetics and generating reactive oxygen species (ROS).

under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### Contents

Introduction.	. 273
Biological hallmarks of TNBC progression, chemoresistance, radioresistance and its reversal.	. 274
Tumor microenvironment.	. 274
Overexpression of membrane proteins (transporters)	. 275
Adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporters	275
Radioresistance and its reversal in TNBC	. 275
Cancer stem cells (CSCs)	. 276
Cellular signaling and chemoresistance development in CSCs	. 276
TGF-β pathway	276
Notch pathway	277
Wnt/β-catenin pathway	277
Hedgehog (Hh) pathway	277
Epigenetic dysregulation.	. 278
TNBC treatment strategies	. 278
Cell signaling pathways mediated drug delivery	. 278
Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) pathway	278
Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) pathways	279
Epidermal growth factor receptor	279
Fibroblast growth factor receptor.	279
Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)	279
Nonreceptor tyrosine kinases	280
PI3K-AKT-mTOR	280
MEK pathway	280
Src kinase protein	281
Epigenetic target-mediated drug delivery	. 281
Receptor mediated drug delivery	. 281
Androgen receptor (AR)	282
Folate receptor.	282
Transferrin receptor	283
Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 receptor	283
Nucleolin receptor	283
Role of mitochondrial reprogramming in TNBC and mitochondrial therapy	. 284
Immunotherapy	. 284
Recent advances in therapeutic intervention for TNBC	. 284
CAR-T-cell therapy in triple-negative breast cancer	284
Role of the gut microbiota (GM) in TNBC and its therapy	285
Conclusions and future perspectives	. 285
CRediT authorship contribution statement	. 286
Declaration of Competing Interest	. 286
Acknowledgments	. 286
References	. 286

# Introduction

Cancer represents one of the most debilitating diseases, having the second highest global fatality rate. Because of its heterogeneous cellular components and uncontrolled growth of selfrenewing cells, cancer is one of the most complex diseases [1,2]. Breast cancer (BC) is the most common type of cancer affecting women and is one of the main causes of female mortality. According to research by the World Cancer Research Fund and the American Institute of Cancer Research, there were approximately 2.2 million cases recorded globally in 2021, with BC accounting for the "second highest in all incidences of malignancies" (approximately 12.5 %) [3]. The American Cancer Society reported a total of 1.9 million new BC cases and  $\sim$ 609,360 deaths due to BC in the US in 2021 [4]. In India, more than 210,000 BCE cases were reported in 2021, with breast cancer being reported to be 28 % higher than total cancer cases [5,6].

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) affects ~20 % of BC patients with worse survival rates because of the absence of ER, PR, and HER-2 overexpression [7]. TNBC is extremely aggressive and more differentiated than other subtypes because of the molecular heterogeneity of tumor cells. TNBC is categorized based on gene expression and is classified into six subtypes: basal-like 1 (BL1), basal-like 2 (BL2), luminal androgen receptor (LAR), mesenchymal stem-like (MSL), and mesenchymal and immune modulatory (IM)[8]. All of these subtypes are directly associated with epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is involved in tumorigenesis and poor prognosis, in addition to the development of drug resistance [9].

Currently, surgery followed by radiation therapy is the only option for TNBC treatment. Chemotherapy for TNBC has limited applicability because of its high toxicity and poor therapeutic outcomes [10]. TNBC differs from different kinds of invasive breast cancer in terms of growth rate, ability to spread faster, restricted treatment options, and worse outcomes. TNBC has extremely hostile and metastatic properties linked to substandard prognosis and higher mortality because of the absence of efficacious treatment [11,12]. The primary care of TNBC includes surgery and radiation therapy after diagnosis. Subsequently, immunotherapy and anticancer drugs have been considered as secondary treatment options. Chemotherapy only shows a good response in the initial stage, as advanced stage treatment with chemotherapy results in recurrence.

Apart from radiation therapy, numerous chemotherapy-based TNBC treatments are employed. Chemotherapy-based approaches could enhance therapeutic efficacy after surgery and radiation therapy to eliminate tumors. Numerous studies have suggested that taxane- and anthracycline-based chemotherapy have better outcomes against TNBC [10]. Chemotherapy with neoadjuvant approaches helps to reduce the tumor mass before surgery, and adjuvant chemotherapy helps in the elimination of the remaining tumor tissues in the mammary region. However, due to the narrow therapeutic response and modulation of the molecular structures within cells, several chemotherapeutics fail in the elimination of cancer, and reoccurrence of cancer occurs (Fig. 1) [13].

Numerous studies have investigated chemotherapeutics, monoclonal antibodies, nucleic acids, immunotherapies and other modalities, such as gut microbiota, CART-T-cell therapy, and RNA epigenetics modulations, for TNBC treatments [14,15]. The selection of the appropriate treatment either in individual or in combination may offer personalized treatment, thereby enhancing the overall response against the therapy [16–18]. Therefore, the molecular profiles of the individual need to be evaluated [19].



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the development of resistance in advanced TNBC after radiation and chemotherapy. The early stage of the TNBC are highly sensible to the chemotherapy and could control the tumor growth in mammary region. The tumor elimination can be done chemotherapy followed by the surgery and radiation therapy. However, the advanced TNBC, is associated with the TME and related phenotypes, thus the TNBC cells acquired resistance to the chemo-/radiation therapies.

#### H. Kumar, N. Vishal Gupta, R. Jain et al.

Moreover, several novel treatment modalities, such as cell signaling/gene modifiers and cell-mediated receptor agonists or antagonists, have been reported in the treatment/diagnosis of TNBC. This manuscript aims to focus on various gene regulation pathways and enzymes involved in the progression and metastasis of TNBC. It also provides insight into the role of cancer stem cells (CSCs) and the application of various drugs, inhibitors and nanocarriers utilized in the management of TNBC.

# Biological hallmarks of TNBC progression, chemoresistance, radioresistance and its reversal

Rapid progression of TNBC is the major challenge in the treatment of metastatic cancer because conventional chemotherapies are insufficient to suppress tumor-associated chemoresistance. Chemoresistance, which is generally associated with TNBC, may be attributed to variations in the tumor microenvironment, overexpression of membrane proteins (transporters), epigenetics and alteration of the cell signaling pathways/genes, and the presence of CSCs [10]. These factors are corroborated by the proliferation, metastasis, recurrence and development of chemoresistance in tumor cells. The roles of these factors are discussed in detail in the subsequent sections.

#### Tumor microenvironment

The tumor microenvironment (TME) plays an important role in tumor initiation, progression, proliferation, immune system suppression, angiogenesis, invasion/cell migration and poor prognosis of TNBC [20]. The TME is highly heterogeneous in nature, accompanied by various cellular compositions regulated through multiple signaling pathways. Cell populations with varied phenotypic characteristics make the TME more complex, and cellular plasticity often contributes to cellular growth and survival, even after chemotherapy. The TME develops a niche between tumor cells and surrounding tissues via the endothelial system and immune cells [21]. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is responsible for the development of CSCs, may also be induced by the complex TME. Therefore, understanding the complexity of the TME and the development of precise treatment strategies may serve as target hallmarks of tumor regression and elimination.

Extensive clinical-pathological reports indicate several prognostic markers for the TME that exhibit the suppression of immune systems, such as tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs), cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and cancer-associated adipocytes (CAAs). These tumorassociated markers are related to immune/tumor interactions in TNBC, which contribute to the development of chemoresistance (Fig. 2).



**Fig. 2.** Tumor cell interactions with the tumor microenvironment. The heterogeneous microenvironments of tumors are associated with the formation of new blood vessels (angiogenesis), immune suppression, metabolic alteration (low nutrient adaptation), conversion of cells (cell differentiation), induced hypoxic conditions and developed resistance to therapies. Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), Stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1), Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta), Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

The metabolic needs of cancer cells and tumor masses are entirely different from those of healthy cells and tissues. Cancer cells need a distinct microenvironment for malignant progression [22]. The TME is highly associated with alteration or remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM), immune cells and other cellular processes in TNBC drug resistance and relapse [23]. Consistent tumor growth requires large amounts of energy (ATP) and oxygen that the surrounding blood vessels cannot meet, creating a hypoxic zone, acidic pH, and an anaerobic environment in the tumor mass [24].

Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) helps the TME adapt to hypoxia by controlling tumor development and is a key factor in tumor invasion and chemoresistance [25]. HIF-1 $\alpha$  is responsible for neovascularization, which promotes angiogenesis and contributes significantly to the progression of tumors [26]. Dai et al., targeted HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein through combination therapy using rapamycin- and doxorubicin (DOX)-loaded liposomes. Rapamycin, a well-known mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor, exhibits good sensitivity toward HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein. Therefore, the combination therapy exhibited a synergistic effect in suppressing the level of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein in TNBC cells as well as in a mouse model of TNBC [27].

Alleviating tumor hypoxia causes immunosuppression by T-cell inhibition [28]. Therefore, reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation is reduced due to a lower immune response and results in the development of chemoresistance. Tumor growth suppression and tumor elimination require a potent therapeutic approach, such as photodynamic therapy (PDT) [29]. PDT kills tumor cells by promoting ROS generation. For oxygen-boosted immunogenic PDT in TNBC management, Liang et al. developed core shell gold nanocage-coated manganese dioxide nanoparticles. The NPs generated oxygen after the degradation of the shell in acidic TME pH/ $H_2O_2$  conditions, which boosted the efficacy of PDT under laser irradiation. NPs also killed tumor cells through immunogenic cell death and altered the immunosuppressive TME with increased T cells [30].

#### *Overexpression of membrane proteins (transporters)*

Transmembrane proteins present in the biological membrane play vital roles in the transport of various biomolecules in and out of cells. They are involved in several physiological functions, including autophagy, muscle contraction, epidermal keratinization and immune responses. Multiple studies have shown that transmembrane proteins are differentially regulated in cancer and are involved in tumorigenesis and drug resistance development [31]. The inherent or acquired chemoresistance of TNBC is caused by the overexpression of many members of the drug efflux ATPbinding cassette (ABC) transporter family [32].

#### Adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporters

The most active transporters are ATP-binding cassette (ABC) proteins, which transport compounds such as amino acids, peptide antibodies, drugs, lipids, toxins, metabolites and ions through extracellular and intracellular regions [33]. ABC transporters are categorized into seven subfamilies, i.e., ABC subfamily (ABCA) to ABC subfamily G (ABCG), which consists of 48 types of proteins. ABC transporters require ATP to transport substances across the cell membrane. [34]. Due to the overexpression of ABC transport proteins, the cellular efflux mechanism is potentiated, resulting in the development of multidrug resistance (MDR) [35]. In TNBC, multidrug resistance protein-1 (MRP-1/ABCC1), breast cancer resistance protein (BRCP/ABCG2), multidrug resistance protein-8 (MRP-8/ABCC11) and P-glycoprotein 1 (P-gp 1 or MDR-1/ABCB1) are responsible for the development of chemoresistance compared to other subtypes of BC [36]. ABCC1 and ABCC11 are responsible for

developing resistance to neoadjuvant drugs such as taxanes, methotrexate (MTX), anthracyclines, mitoxantrone and others, while ABCG2 contributes to MTX, doxorubicin (DOX), 5fluorouracil and others [37]. ABCB1 helps in developing resistance to drugs such as docetaxel, cisplatin, DOX, epirubicin, etoposide, paclitaxel (PTX), vincristine and eribulin [38].

Several researchers have attempted to target ABC transporters to overcome chemoresistance. There are two approaches proposed to target ABC transporters: a) to inhibit the activity of ABC proteins and b) to inhibit ABC gene expression. The majority of ABC transporter activity inhibitors, such as amlodipine, cyclosporine, verapamil, nifedipine, quinine and dexniguldipine, are administered in combination with chemotherapeutics to ensure resistance reversal [39]. The PZ-39 inhibitor reduced ABCG2 activity and promoted ABCG2 protein degradation [40]. Several clinical studies are in progress for the treatment of TNBC exploring ABC transporter inhibitors in combination with tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), such as EGFR, FGFR, VEGFR, PI3K/AKT and other chemotherapeutics [41].

Currently, there is no drug available for clinical use in P-gp1associated drug resistance. However, several chemotherapeutic drugs have been identified for P-gp inhibition at preclinical stages. Nanayakkara et al. evaluated the anticancer effect of several synthesized compounds in combination with PTX and vinblastine. The authors reported that these compounds were able to reverse drug resistance and increase drug retention in cancer cells by inhibiting the p-gp transporter, which ultimately decreased cell viability [42].

Inhibition of ABC transporter gene expression is another approach. Nucleic acids, such as siRNA- and RNAi-mediated therapies, helped to downregulate ABC gene expression and were found to be more effective and precise in TNBC treatment [43]. Numerous nucleic acid-based therapeutics, such as pLenti6/BCRPsi shRNA, pGenesil-BCRP/ABCG2-1 siRNA, pGenesil-BCRP/ABCG2-2 siRNA and MRP1-4 siRNA, were explored against drug-resistant cancer and resulted in altered MDR effects by ABC transporter gene silencing and promoted chemotherapeutic sensitivity to cancer cells [44].

# Radioresistance and its reversal in TNBC

Radiation therapy is considered to be an appropriate modality for BC patients. However, benefits could be achieved by radiation therapy at the initial age of TNBC. Advanced and metastatic TNBC develop resistance to radiation therapy. The molecular reason behind radiation resistance is still unclear. Increased de novo fatty acid synthesis and oxidation are linked to radioresistance in breast and other cancers. Recent research has identified the migration of breast circulating tumor cells (CTCs) to radiation-damaged areas as a contributing factor for recurrence of cancer [45].

One of the main factors leading to the failure of radiation therapy and the poor prognosis for tumor patients is radioresistance. Radioresistance can also result from changes in metabolism, especially glycolytic metabolism. The metabolic pathways of patients receiving radiotherapy demonstrated increased expression of genes that regulate autophagy, lysosomal degradation, and mitochondrial activities, as well as a significant dependence on mitochondrial respiration and a diminished dependence on the Warburg effect [46].

Several molecular mechanisms have been investigated for the development of radiation resistance in metastatic TNBC therapy. The activation of NF- $\kappa$ B associated with a ubiquitous transcriptional mechanism and activation of an array of anti-apoptotic genes, scavenging damaging free radicals and inhibition of pro-apoptotic genes leads to molecular phenomenal changes, which alter the response to radiation [47]. In another study, hypoxia-

induced factor- $1\alpha$  (HIF- $1\alpha$ ) enhanced lysyl oxidase release in radioresistant MDA-MB-231 cells. Resultant cells were easily metastasized, leading to enhanced tumor growth with the development of CSCs in xenograft mice [48].

A published report by Bai et al. demonstrated that eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation activates ATF4, which consequently leads to glutathione biosynthesis and enhancement of intracellular ROS. As a result, a radioresistant phenotype develops in TNBC. In their study, they reported that the alleviating or downregulation of eIF2 $\alpha$ /ATF4 phosphorylation induced TNBC cell sensitization against irradiation (IR) therapy [49]. In another study, it was reported that the overexpression of the Texas Hematology Oncology Complex (THOC), which regulates transcription, RNA splicing, elongation and export, is responsible for TNBC stemness and radioresistance. The blocking of THOC activity enhanced the therapeutic response in a radioresistant TNBC mouse model [50]. Similarly, several kinase and protein receptors were observed to be overexpressed or alleviated in breast cancer subtypes, which could also be targeted markers in the treatment of radioresistant TNBC [51].

# Cancer stem cells (CSCs)

CSCs are involved in tumorigenesis, heterogenesis, recurrence and metastasis [52]. The majority of cellular proliferation is eliminated by effective cancer therapy, but CSCs may persist and facilitate recurrence due to their potential for invasiveness and chemical resistance [53]. This is particularly important for TNBC, which has very limited treatment possibilities, and CSCs tend to be enriched intrinsically. Chemotherapy resistance mechanisms linked to CSCs remain a matter of debate. As a result, it is critical to comprehend the properties of CSCs to usher in a new era of cancer therapy by targeting CSCs [54].

Research on CSCs has focused on the potential sources of origin, cell surface markers, mechanism in tumor proliferation, recurrence and design of therapeutic strategies to eliminate CSCs [55]. Cell surface markers such as cluster of diffraction (CD) 20, CD44, CD90, CD133, CD200, aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH), epithelial cell membrane adhesion (EpCAM), THY1 and ATP-binding cassette member B5 (ABCB5) were identified and reported to be overexpressed in CSC populations, and these markers distinguish CSCs

from other cellular populations present in solid tumors [56]. The proposed mechanisms of the development of CSCs and their eradication were discussed in detail in a recent review by Jain et al. [57].

#### Cellular signaling and chemoresistance development in CSCs

Cell signal transduction has been associated with the development, self-renewal and differentiation of CSCs in TNBC. Specifically, the Notch, Wnt, transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) and hedgehog (Hh) pathways were upregulated in CSCassociated chemoresistance (Fig. 3). There are other common pathways mediated by receptor tyrosine kinases (EGFR, VEGF), nonreceptor tyrosine kinases (PI3K/AKT/mTOR and RES) and other transcriptional regulators (nanog, YAP/TAZ and OCT4), which are overexpressed in proliferating CSCs. These pathways play key roles in tumor recurrence through CSC development. A possible approach to control TNBC recurrence is the disruption of cell signaling pathways, which are vital for CSC development and selfrenewal. Pathways such as the TGF-B, Notch, Wnt/-catenin, and Hh signaling cascades are critically important during the development of CSCs. Hence, special emphasis has been placed on these pathways to control the proliferation of CSCs, which may further help in complete eradication and subsequent termination of tumor recurrence (Table 1).

# TGF- $\beta$ pathway

TGF-β comprises over 30 related factors and three TGF-β isoforms (TGF-β1, TGF-β2 and TGF-β3), which belong to the cytokine superfamily. TGF-β is a potent inducer of EMT in breast tissue and is associated with the development of tumor stem-like characteristics [58]. TGF-β-associated ligands are highly expressed in the CSC population in TNBC and are generally produced by tumor cells or stromal cells [59]. A recent study on an epirubicin-resistant TNBC cell line demonstrated enhanced TGF-β expression in breast CSCs [60]. In addition, it was reported that the use of a TGF-βR antagonist hindered the regeneration of tumors after chemotherapeutic treatment [61]. These reports demonstrate the involvement of the TGF-β pathway in sustaining CSCs.



**Fig. 3.** The microenvironment of cancer stem cells. Proliferation, self-renewal, differentiation, metastasis, and tumorigenesis of CSCs in the CSC microenvironment. Chemokines-7 (CXCL-7), Chemokines-7 (CXCL-7), Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Hypoxia-inducible factor-α (HIF-α), Interleukin-β (IL-β), Interleukin-1 (IL-1), Interleukin-6 (IL-6), Interleukin-8 (IL-8), Stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1), Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Wnt, Notch, JAK/STAT3, NF-κB, Notch, Hedgehog, and AKT/ mTOR are cell signaling pathways.

#### Table 1

The signaling pathways and associated CSC markers responsible for chemoresistance and the inhibitors used for the reversal of chemoresistance.

Signaling Factivity's Cole marker millibrois used funget	Reference
TGF-βCD44+, CD24+, CD8+Galunisertib,TβRI (ALK5	[86]
Lucanix (Belagenpumatucel-L) TGF-β2	[87]
Vigil (Gemogenovatucel-T) TGF-β1, β2	
Fresolimumab TGF-β2	
Trabedersen TGF-β2	
Notch signaling CD44, Anti-DLL4 mAb Notch1 and No	tch4 [88]
CXCR4, OMP-21M18 Notch1 and No	tch4 [89]
DLL 1, OMP-59R5 Notch2	
DLL 3, REGN421 DLL-4	
DLL 4,	
Hes1	
Wnt/ $\beta$ -CateninCD44,CWP23228 $\beta$ -catenin	[75]
CD133, PRI-724 CREB protein	
CD24 LGK-974 Porcupine	[90]
ALDH1, WNT974 PORCN inhibite	٥r
Sca-1 Docetaxel and sulforaphane β-catenin	[91]
Salinomycin LRP5/6	[92]
Hedgehog (Hh) signaling CD44', CD24 Sonidegib SMO inhibition	/Hh inhibition [93]
SOX2, OCT4, NANOG, ALDH1 Erivedge SMO inhibition	/Hh inhibition
Daurismo SMO inhibition	/Hh inhibition

Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH), cAMP-response element binding protein (CREB), Delta like canonical Notch ligand (DLL), Octamer-binding transcription factor 4, OCT-4, Porcupine O-Acyltransferase (PORCN), Stem Cell Antigen-1 (Sca-1), Transmembrane protein Smoothened (Smo), SRY-box transcription factor 2 (SOX2).

TGF- $\beta$  inhibitors were used in antimetastatic therapy in cancer patients. The effect of these TGF- $\beta$  inhibitors on receptors has not yet been fully explored for CSCs in breast cancer [58]. The proposed compound galunisertib, which is used as a potent TGF- $\beta$  inhibitor, interferes with several growth factor receptors to hinder tumor growth and metastasis. Combining galunisertib with other chemotherapeutic agents, such as taxane, could be an outstanding strategy to control the growth and metastasis of cancer [62]. Another approach for the repression of TGF- $\beta$  could be anti-TGF- $\beta$  monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) [63]. For instance, fresolimumab was tested clinically in metastatic breast cancer, but the findings were disappointing (NCT01401062). Advanced vaccines (vigil<sup>TM</sup>) and trabedersen (a TGF- $\beta$ 2-specific phosphorothioate antisense oligodeoxynucleotide) exist in the early stages of clinical development and have provided mixed results thus far [64].

#### Notch pathway

Notch signaling is involved in both mammary growth vis-a-vis homeostasis and the promotion of breast cancer once it is dysregulated [65]. In addition, emerging evidence establishes the significance of Notch pathways in the development of mammary stem cells (MASCs) in mammary gland development [66]. The notch pathway is aberrantly triggered through several mutational pathways and is responsible for the development of several cancers. Emerging evidence has shown that Notch1 is part of the invasion and migration process, which is characterized by EMT [67]. Notch1's association with tumor tissue was strongly linked to the TNBC subtype, elevated metastasis levels, tumor-node metastasis stages (TNM) and CSC cell surface receptor ALDH1.

Notch1 retains CSCs stemming in TNBC, thereby increasing TNBC resistance to chemotherapeutics, and its unique signaling repression has an excellent inhibitory effect on these cancer sub-types [68]. It was reported that c-Jun *N*-terminal kinase (JNK) in HCC 70, SUM149 and MDA-MB-231 TNBC cell lines promotes CSC autorenewal and maintenance through Notch1 transcription [69]; therefore, it is responsible for drug resistance. Inhibition of Notch signaling was thus seen as an effective strategy for TNBC therapy [68]. A study reported that Notch-1 is associated with poor survival of basal-like and TNBC. According to study results, Notch1 inhibition reveres EMT and chemoresistance to cisplatin in the TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 [70]. Based on these observations, it can be concluded that JNK and Notch1 significantly reduced the

development of the mammosphere in TNBC cells [68]. Interestingly, the monoclonal antibody (OMP-59R5) tested in the xenograft model showed enhanced antitumor effects by blocking Notch receptors.

#### $Wnt/\beta$ -catenin pathway

In TNBC, Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin overexpression contributes to poor clinical outcomes [71]. Aberrant Wnt signaling in CSCs has been identified as a critical factor in breast carcinogenesis [72]. Research on Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin function in breast CSCs has shown higher levels of signaling in the bulk tumor population depending on the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin, TCF4, and LEF1 in aldefluoro-positive cells [73]. However, it has been shown that breast tumors are sustained, which retriggers post Wnt overexpression and suggests that aberrant Wnt activation is an important key to the replication and development of breast cancer [74].

Understanding the function and interplay of Wnt/-catenin signaling has been the subject of extensive research in recent years. With this information, many selective Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin inhibitors have been developed. These inhibitors displayed effectiveness in TNBC as monotherapy and as sensitizing drugs and are under early clinical trials. The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway has yet to be completely established and is likely to provide possibilities for novel potential antitumor agents to develop. Treatment using CWP23228 blocked C- $\beta$ -catenin-mediated transcription in TNBC *in vitro* as well as *in vivo*, resulting in the inhibition of CSCs proliferation, which led to tumor growth reduction [75].

#### Hedgehog (Hh) pathway

Hh signaling is essential for stem cell renewal, organogenesis, and embryogenesis [76]. First, TNBC is abundant in basal-like progenitor cells, which maintain primary cilia as well as zinc finger protein (GLI 1) expression. This shows that TNBC may be responsive to ligand-based activation of canonic Hh pathways [77]. Dysregulated Hh signaling is responsible for GLI1 overexpression and consequently associated with the upregulation of MDR-1 and BCRP (ABC transporters), which induces chemoresistance toward DOX, PTX and cisplatin treatment [78,79]. Second, Hh overexpression in TNBC enhances *in vitro* cellular proliferation, colony development, migration and invasion, which promotes spontaneous lung metastases [80]. The overexpression of Hh signaling activates Twist, Slug, TWIST2, Snail, BMI, CD44 and CD133, which promote cell proliferation, self-renewal, metastasis and chemoresistance in cancer cells [81]. Additionally, canonical Hh signaling promotes development and metastatic spread through several mechanisms to enhance tumor angiogenesis, which may involve metalloprotease overexpression, CYR61 and VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2) [77,82]. Angiogenesis in TNBC due to canonical Hh signaling is reported to be reduced by FDA-approved smoothened (SMO) inhibitors (i.e., NVP-LDE225) [77]. In contrast, noncanonic Hh signaling promotes endothelial cell tubulogenesis and endothelial survival [78].

Furthermore, GL1 is a stemness marker for a large number of tissues, but it can also update CSC expression for both SRY-box (SOX2) and OCT4 [83]. In breast CSCs, NF- $\kappa$ B and forkhead box C1, independent of Hh ligands, are upregulated by GL11 [84]. In support of NF- $\kappa$ B inhibition, GL11 expression was decreased in multiple BC cell lines [85].

# **Epigenetic dysregulation**

Alterations in targeted gene expression and function and genomic mutations lead to DNA impairment, resulting in failure to undergo cell apoptosis. Consequently, it reprogrammed cellular function and acquired the development of drug resistance and cellular plasticity. Epigenetic changes in the cellular genome during tumorigenesis play a key role in chemoresistance development [94].

The modification of DNA methylation by the methyltransferase enzyme via inhibition of transcription factor proteins is involved in malignant transformation. These proteins are essential for the binding of methylated cysteines in the transcription process [95]. Moreover, histone acetylation and histone methylation modifications at histone H3 and H4 are involved in epigenetic-based chemoresistance [96]. Overexpression of DNA methyltransferase (DMT) increases the level of methylated cysteines, which promotes the transcription process at the early stage of breast cancer [97]. Likewise, aberrant histone methyltransferase (HMT), histone acetyl transferase (HAT) and histone deacetylate (HDAC) enzyme expression induces DNA damage and is involved in poor prognosis and chemoresistance [98].

He et al. demonstrated that DNA methylation and miRNA and mRNA expression are associated with TNBC chemoresistance. Based on gene expression profiling, 17 genes were validated that are involved in EMT and CSC development [99]. In addition, metabolic components such as acetyl-CoA, S-adenosylmethionine, flavin adenine dinucleotide and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide alter epigenetic events at DNA methylation and histone acetylation and induce chemoresistance development through EMT-CSC transduction [100]. CSC-specific pathways, such as Wnt, notch and Hh signaling, and cell surface markers, such ABC transporters and CD44. are associated with epigenetic modification and repress polycomb-mediated gene expression [101].

Epigenetic-based chemoresistance in tumors can be reserved by the blocking enzymes DMT, HMT, HAT and HDAC, which improves the efficacy of the therapeutic drug and retards the progression of tumors. 5-Azacitidine, 5-fluoro-2'-deoxycytidine and decitadine also inhibit DNA methylation in a dose-dependent manner [102]. Histone modification inhibitors such as HMT, HAT and HDAC inhibitors provide promising ways to eliminate chemoresistance. Several HMT inhibitors, such as pinometostat, tazemetostat, GSK2816126 and CPI-1205; HAT inhibitors, such as  $\alpha$ -methyleneg-butyrolactones, isothiazolone, ICG-001 and PRI-724; and HDAC inhibitors, e.g., exemestane, panobinostat, romidepsin, suramin ORY-2001, GSK2879552 and 4SC-202, are under different phases of clinical trials [103]. RNA dysregulation in TNBC may result in the development of resistance to chemotherapeutics. Modifications of N1methyladinosine, N6-hydroxymethyladinosine, N6methyladinosine, 5-methylcytosine and RNA methylation and RNA acetylation are highly involved in RNA epigenetic modification in TNBC [104]. Therefore, to overcome the resistance and invasiveness of currently used medicines for TNBC, new treatments must be developed.

The epigenetic regulation of microRNAs or miRNAs could be potential targets for TNBC therapy. A recent study suggests that elevated production of repressor proteins correlates with lower expression of the miRNA-200 family [105]. A tumor-suppressor miRNA is MiR-145, which targets MMP 11 and the Rab GTPase Family 27a in TNBC. Similarly, miR-9, miR-21 and miR-200b can suppress the expression of CDH1, PTEN, PI3K/AKT, snail and BMI1 [106].

#### **TNBC treatment strategies**

The aggressiveness and heterogeneity associated with TNBC pose significant constraints to the therapeutic regimen designed for its treatment. As mentioned earlier, there are no specific guide-lines for the treatment of TNBC. Currently, TNBC is managed by standard chemotherapy followed by radiation therapy. Treatment based on adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy along with the role of nanomedicine in TNBC therapy has been discussed in a recent review elsewhere [57]. The current section deals with the strategies for TNBC treatment that are based on targeting cell signaling pathways, receptor-mediated therapy, epigenetic targeting, mitochondrial targeting, nucleic acids, peptide-based therapy and immunotherapy. Several clinical trials are underway for various molecules either alone or in combination to treat TNBC by altering different protein signal cascades.

# Cell signaling pathways mediated drug delivery

# Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) pathway

Poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) enzymes play a crucial role in a number of biological activities, such as DNA repair, genome maintenance, and apoptosis. PARPs have proven to be a promising target for anticancer therapy, resulting in the emergence of various PARP inhibitors (PARPi) and are considered one of the cutting-edge treatments for TNBC (Fig. 4). Poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitors (PARPi) mainly target PARP1, which is responsible for the recognition of single-strand DNA breaks [107]. Numerous PARPis, such as olaparib, rucaparib, iparib, veliparib, talazoparib, niraparib, and geparixto, have been tested for clinical benefit as monotherapy and/or in combination with other chemotherapeutic drugs. Olaparib against BRCA1/2 in TNBC patients was the subject of a phase I clinical investigation. The results suggest that 1/9 BC patients with BRCA2 mutation had a complete response up to 60 months with inhibitors and that 3/9 patients with BRCA2 mutations were stable for 4 months [108].

Recently, the OlympiAD study reported that clinical stage III olaparib monotherapy at a randomized frequency was compared with BRCA2-mutated and HER2-negative metastatic pretreated BC patients treated with chemotherapy. The results demonstrated that the olaparib group had a substantially higher PFS (7.0 months) than the chemotherapy group (4.2 months). The enhanced response of olaparib suggested that it was more fascinating to BRCA mutated genes compared to other chemotherapies in TNBC patients [109]. The dual mechanism PARPi talazoparib was assessed in a phase II study with 1 mg daily in advanced germline BRCA-mutated BC patients who received platinum or platinum-



# Normal cell with BRCA gene

Fig. 4. Graphical representation of the mechanism of PARP inhibitors in the treatment of TNBC associated with the BRCA gene. Adapted from [111].

free chemotherapeutics. The overall response rates were 26 % and 29 % for BRCA1 and BRCA2, respectively [110].

#### Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) pathways

The RTKs pathways are major pathways in the regulation of cellular processes. It consists of a variety of proteins. Proteins and associated receptors are essential for the growth of cells via tyrosine phosphorylation. The overexpression of these RTK proteins is involved in the promotion of cell proliferation, angiogenesis and migration of tumor cells. The major protein receptors of these RKS family are epithelial growth factor receptor, fibroblast growth factor receptor and vascular endothelial growth factor receptors [112].

# Epidermal growth factor receptor

Epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR) is the most common receptor kinase protein and is overexpressed in TNBC patients. Approximately 89 % of TNBC tumors are reported to be associated with the expression of EGFR, and mainly, the BL2 subtype is caused by overexpression of this protein [113]. Mostly, the processes of proliferation, EMT, angiogenesis, invasion, migration and metastasis are associated with the EGFR protein [114]. It has been reported that chemotherapy resistance is associated with EGFR nuclear translocation[115].

The suppression of EGFR associated with TNBC has been attempted by many scientists. Many mAbs along with EGFR inhibitors are used to reduce the EGFR level. For instance, cetuximab is an EGFR-directed mAb that is being investigated in a phase II clinical trial to assess its efficacy and potency. This mAb was delivered in combination with cisplatin to enhance its potency against metastatic TNBC [116]. Carboplatin was also explored in a similar manner along with cetuximab in a phase II trial. It was reported to have  $\sim$ 27 % overall clinical benefits among 102 TNBC patients [117]. In another study with panitumumab used in combination with taxanes, the pCR was 69 %, and the treatment exhibited synergistic effects [118].

EGFR-TKIs such lapatinib and erlotinib were tested in TNBC therapy [119]. Using EGFR-TKI dual inhibitors such as BIBW 2992

(afatinib; anti-HER-2/EGFR) in combination with mAb improved the clinical response up to 20 %, whereas single therapy resulted in only a 10 % response. Therefore, it is proposed that the combination of mAbs enhances the efficacy of targeted chemotherapy in TNBC patients [120]. Apparently, EGFR inhibition may not be an appropriate monotherapy target in TNBC. However, it has been clinically proven that mAbs such as cetuximab and panitumumab depict an effective response with respect to TKIs in combination with chemotherapeutic agents and help reduce EGFR-induced proliferation [121].

# Fibroblast growth factor receptor

Fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) inhibitors are emerging therapeutic modalities in the treatment of TNBC. In TNBC patients, less than 10 % of cases are associated with FGFR1 and FGFR2 amplification [122]. A recent study by Tsimafeyeu et al. suggested that alofinib, an FGFR2 inhibitor, inhibited proliferation in HS578T and SUM52PE cell lines [123]. In addition, PD173074, a pan-FGFR inhibitor, resulted in apoptosis in the SUM52PE and MFM223 cell lines and reduced FGFR2 overexpression [124]. Lucitanib is evaluated clinically in TNBC patients through inhibition of FGFR expression, which may remain helpful in the treatment of TNBC [125].

#### Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)

Among all types of proteins and receptors, VEGF-A and VEGFR2 expression is highly associated with angiogenesis and is considered one of the causative factors for poor prognosis in TNBC patients [126]. Anti-angiogenic therapeutics such as anti-VEGFA mAb and bevacizumab combined with conventional chemotherapy have been explored clinically in TNBC patients (Fig. 5) [127].

Furthermore, bevacizumab in combination with PTX resulted in an enhanced response or PFS benefit in TNBC [128]. In a phase III trial, E2100 (PTX) was compared with/without bevacizumab for the treatment of metastatic BC. This trial demonstrated that progression was reduced with the addition of bevacizumab to PTX in TNBC patients and that the median PFS was enhanced by 51 % com-



Fig. 5. Mechanistic representation of bevacizumab, a VEGF inhibitor, in the inhibition of angiogenesis in TNBC.

pared with PTX alone in the first-line treatment of metastatic disease.

Generally, available evidence shows that VEGF-centric therapies do not achieve an appropriate response to substantiate their therapeutic use in TNBC without predictive biomarkers. One such potential biomarker is VEGFR2, which has shown an effective response to bevacizumab and apatinib [129]. Additionally, novel VEGF inhibitors with immunotherapy combination therapy can produce additive effects in TNBC treatment. VEGF is an important target, and currently, many clinical studies are in progress to demonstrate the potential benefit of VEGF inhibitors in TNBC.

#### Nonreceptor tyrosine kinases

Nonreceptor tyrosine kinases (nRTKs) comprise a subgroup of proteins of cytosolic kinase enzymes that are responsible for the transfer of phosphate groups via a phosphorylation mechanism from nucleoside triphosphate donors such as ATM to tyrosine residues in the protein. In TNBC patients, to abolish the growth and proliferation of tumor cells, nRTK inhibition may be achieved by stopping different pathways, such as the PI3K-AKT-mTOR and MEK signaling pathways and Src protein, by selective inhibitors [130].

#### PI3K-AKT-mTOR

The PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling cascade plays a vital role in the survival, metabolism and proliferation of breast tumors. It initiates and regulates cellular functions, such as phosphorylation of protein kinases [131]. mTOR-associated downstream of serine/threonine protein kinase is mediated by two complexes, mTOR1 and mTOR2. mTOR1 regulates protein translation, while mTOR2 activates AKT [132]. In TNBC, INPP4B and PTEN gene mutations are highly associated with the regulation of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling pathway and its sensitivity to chemotherapy [133].

PI3K, AKT, and mTOR inhibitors are emerging therapeutic classes in the clinical application of BC to suppress PI3K–AKT– mTOR signaling, which is considered the major cause of resistance to ER- and HER2-targeting therapeutics [134]. A study by Woo et al. demonstrated that inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin/everolimus in TNBC cell lines enhanced the cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic agents [135]. Unfortunately, a phase II study of everolimus in TNBC patients did not show pCR when administered in combination with epirubicin, cyclophosphamide, 5-fluorouracil, and PTX [136]. However, everolimus inhibits mTOR1 followed by feedback inhibition of mTOR2, which causes prolonged AKT activation. Furthermore, dual mTOR1/2 inhibitors or the combination of mTOR inhibitors with therapeutic agents and/or AKT and PI3K inhibitors could be used as emerging therapies to obtain synergetic effects on cell growth inhibition in TNBC [137].

PI3K and AKT inhibition using Buparlisib in a phase I study depicted a partial response in TNBC patients [138]. However, a phase II study is currently ongoing, which fails to reduce tumor progression due to PI3K inhibitor-induced activation of parallel signaling cascades and HER-family RTKs such as HER2 and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor [139]. Additionally, numerous combinations of different inhibitors, such as androgen receptor, EGFR, FGFR, and PARP inhibitors, are being explored to inhibit the PI3K-mTOR pathway in TNBC patients [140]. Mo et al. reported that mTOR inhibitors depict synergistic effects with PARPi in BRCAassociated tumor proliferation in TNBC patients [141]. Similarly, PI3K inhibition also enhances the anticancer efficacy of PARPi. The approach is being evaluated in phase I studies using buparsilib and olaparib combination therapy, which also reduces BRCA 1/2induced tumors [142].

# MEK pathway

Misleading MAPK signaling due to EGFR overexpression and genetic alteration results in negative regulation by mutated genes [143]. The aberrant MAPK/Ras pathway leads to tumor proliferation and promotes angiogenesis and cell differentiation in TNBC. Hence, this pathway is of great interest for tumor targeting by many researchers. One such study suggested that the MEK inhibitor UO126 eliminated the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T TNBC cells. Similarly, another MEK inhibitor, selumetinib, significantly reduced lung metastasis in a TNBC xenograft model [144,145]. A phase I trial of trametinib and gemcitabine in TNBC patients depicted a complete response, but some chemotherapy-related resistance was observed [146].

However, several limitations were observed during MEK inhibitor evaluation in TNBC patients, such as drug resistance, doselimiting toxicity and poor pharmacokinetics with MEK monotherapy during different phases of clinical testing [147]. Nevertheless, MEK inhibitors completely inhibited aberrant MAPK/Ras signaling when administered with other inhibitors, such as EGFR, mTOR1/2, PI3K and other chemotherapeutic agents, such as dacarbazine, temozolomide, PTX and cisplatin [148]. The effectiveness of MEK inhibitors was improved, and MEK exhibited potent antiproliferative activity against TNBC when used in combination with other agents. Conclusively, MEK inhibitors along with chemotherapeutic agents and/or with other pathway inhibitors may synergistically reduce the metastasis, angiogenesis and proliferation of tumor cells with improved efficacy.

#### Src kinase protein

Src belongs to a cytoplasmic kinase protein family associated with the regulation of metastasis, angiogenesis and cell proliferation. In comparison to hormone-positive BC, Src protein is present in abundance in TNBC [149]. There are several Src inhibitors (e.g., dasatinib, saracatinib, bosutinib, etc.) in pipelines to control the excessive production of protein, but unfortunately, to date, no clinical data are available [150]. However, in combination with potential therapeutics and mAbs, these compounds exhibited good efficacy. One such example of the dasatinib + cetuximab/cisplatin combination depicted reduced cell growth and tumor invasion [151]. Src inhibitors are also helpful in reducing EGFR overexpression and decreasing EGFR nuclear translocation, which prevents mAb resistance to EGFR. Thus, Src inhibitors with mAb and EGFR inhibitors synergistically improved targeted therapy [152].

#### Epigenetic target-mediated drug delivery

The novel therapy of epigenetic targeting toward the tumor to prevent the invasion of cells is based on the principle of regulation of gene expression without altering the primary sequence. Many factors involved in this arena include methyltransferase, acetylation of lysine residues in histones, silencing of gene expression by miRNAs and siRNAs and heat shock proteins (e.g., Hsp90), which show a significant impact on cancerous cells. Aberrant epigenetic changes in histone acetylation and DNA methylation may facilitate tumorigenesis and chemoresistance development [153].

Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors are used to inhibit the aberrant acetylation of lysine residues in histones, which interrupts chromatin formation to initiate gene transcription. HDAC inhibitors cause the depletion of homologous recombinant proteins and prevent DNA damage repair, which induces BRCAness and sensitizes TNBC cells to PARPi [154]. When HDAC inhibitors were used in combination with cisplatin or PARPi, the results demonstrated that the viability of TNBC cells was reduced [155].

Epigenetic modification in tumor cells is an emerging approach to TNBC therapy. Published articles demonstrate that DNA methylation of the whole genome has different methylation patterns in TNBC than in hormone-positive BC [156]. Kang et al., reported that the DNA methyltransferase STAT3-DNMT1 showed demethylation at the promotor location of tumor suppressor genes and resulted in the expression of PDZ and LIM domain protein 4 (PDLIM4) and von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor (VHL) genes for the inhibition of metastasis [157]. Hsp90 targeting has been explored as a novel therapy for TNBC treatment. Hsp90 is a molecular chaperone that causes the maturation of various proteins, such as AKT and PI3K. Hence, the inhibition of Hsp90 may offer potential therapeutic benefits by inhibiting the signaling cascades associated with tumor growth and metastasis [158].

One such study demonstrated that the Hsp9 inhibitor ganetespib reduced the viability of MDA-MB-231 cells and inhibited lung metastasis in a TNBC mouse model bearing 4 T1 cells. Ganetespib also potentiated the effect of DOX-cyclophosphamide in TNBC xenografts and induced mitotic catastrophe and cell apoptotic effects in combination with PTX and DTX [159]. Furthermore, gantespib was evaluated in phase II clinical studies, which demonstrated tumor regression. The clinical benefit rate (CBR) was 9 % up to 6 months, the median PFS was 7 weeks, and the overall survival was 46 weeks in TNBC patients [160].

# Receptor mediated drug delivery

The heterogeneity associated with breast cancer/TNBC is attributed to the overexpression of various cell surface receptors [161]. These cell surface receptors are highly associated with numerous cellular processes in tumors. With the use of such ligands/mAbs or antagonists, the cellular association of these receptors could be controlled, and targeting may be achieved by mAb/ligandconjugated NPs (Fig. 6). Several studies have demonstrated that the targeting efficacy and drug potency were enhanced with the help of receptor-mediated drug delivery (Table 2).



Fig. 6. Receptor-mediated drug delivery for the treatment of TNBC.

#### Table 2

Receptor mediated drug delivery.

Targeting Receptor	Drug/antagonist	Type of Therapy	Findings	References
Androgen receptor (AR)	Bicalutamide	Monotherapy	Bicalutamide showed the AR blockage in the patients with ER/PgR negative receptors.	[164]
. ,	Enzalutamide	Monotherapy	down regulation of DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit, ultimately leads to DNA repair	[165]
	GDC-0941, GDC- 0980 and taselisib	Combination Therapy	Suppressed the growth and reduced the recurrence of tumors in TNBC patients	[167]
	Abiraterone and prednisone	Combination Therapy	The combination therapy enhanced the effect of the Abiraterone and reduced the androgen synthesis.	[191]
Folate receptor (FR)	DOX	DOX loaded β-lactoglobulin nanoparticles with folic acid (FDBNPs)	$\sim$ 1.3-fold higher inhibition of cell proliferation compared to DOX loaded y, $\beta$ -lactoglobulin nanoparticles and $\sim$ 7.11-fold higher than DOX alone	[174]
	MTX, α tocopherol and α tocopherol succinate	Combination Therapy	Significantly reduced cell proliferation	[175]
	Celastrol and Irinotecan	Folic acid (FA) conjugated liposome	The liposomal system was pH sensitive and released the drug in acidic condition, which favored the higher dug uptake and targeting to cancer cell	[192]
	PTX	Ā-lipid–polymer hybrid nanoparticles	FA conjugated NPs showed the higher tumor inhibition (65.8 %) compared to nontargeting NPs (45.4 %). The Lipid-Polymer NPs was biodegradable and produced more efficiency than marketd drug Taxol®	[193]
	DOX	FA-Gold nanorods-liposome	The hybrid NPs system conjugated with folic acid targeted to the receptor site and induced dual action with synergism effect (phototherapy and chemotherapy) to effectively inhibition of tumor growth.	[194]
	DTX	FA-PGG NPs	To evaluate the targeting efficacy of folic acid conjugated NPs, the <i>in vivo</i> study showed that the developed NPs were effectively reached to the tumor site.	[195]
	DTX	FA-Dextran–PLGA polymersomes	The NPs were enhanced the therapeutic potency of the drug through dual targeting to cancer cell.	[196]
Transferrin receptors	DOX	DOX loaded transferrin conjugated niosomes	Higher cellular uptake of drug and reduced cell viability were observed	[178]
	DOX	Transferrin ligand (7-pep) conjugated PEGylated micelles	Micelles were enhanced the delivery of DOX at intracellular level.	[179]
	Olaparib	H-ferritin nanocage (HOla)	HOla significantly improved the cytotoxic effect of olaparib, ~1000 times higher compared to that of free drug and the PARP-1 cleavage	[180]
	DTX	TPGS micelle	Tumor inhibition were imaged. The targeted micelles were 71 % more effective than the drug.	[197]
ICAM-1	DOX	Mesoporous organosilica nanoparticles	Effective accumulation inside breast cancer cells, reduced more than 2 time tumor volume	[184]
	Lipocalin 2 siRNA, ICAM-1 mAb	Liposome	Reduced the VEGF production and angiogenisis	[183]
	DOX, EGFR mAb, ICAM-1 mAb	Liposome	Increased binding, enhanced internalization of drug which enhanced the tumor targeting activity and antitumor efficacy in TNBC lung metastasis	[185]
Nucleolin	DOX	F3 peptide conjugated liposomes	Targeted liposomes improved cytotoxicity of drug and induced nearly 100 % cell death. specific targeting to angiogenic endothelial cells of both CSCs and nonstem like cancer cells	[188]
	-	F3 functionalized carbon nanotubes	Significantly kills both dividing endothelial cell and BC cell by producing NIR effect	[189]
	DOX	F3 conjugated pH-sensitive liposomes	NPs showed $\sim$ 177-fold higher cytotoxicity in HMEC-1 angiogenic endothelial cells and $\sim$ 162 times higher cytotoxicity in TNBC cell lines	[190]

# Androgen receptor (AR)

AR is associated with nuclear and cellular processes that stimulate or suppress other receptors to induce or control apoptosis, metastasis and cell proliferation. AR is expressed in ~10 %-50 % of TNBC patients [162]. AR interacts with cell cycle regulators and the BC susceptibility genes PARP1, BRCA1/2, PI3K, AKT, and EGFR. The preclinical data with PARPi demonstrated the reduction of cell proliferation and invasion in AR-positive TNBC. Additional studies demonstrated that inhibitors of AR and PARP1 in combination increase apoptosis in cancerous cells [162,163].

A clinical investigation on AR therapy in TNBC patients was first reported by Gucalp et al. (2013). The results indicated that the AR antagonist bicalutamide was administered orally to treat metastasis in AR-positive TNBC women, with a median PFS of 19 % (12 weeks) and a pCR of 95 % [164]. Another AR inhibitor, enzalutamide, reduced the proliferation, invasion, and migration of the AR-positive TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, BT549, HCC1806 and SUM159PT [165]. A phase II trial of enzalutamide in AR-positive TBNC patients showed that the CBR was 33 %, and the median PFS was 24 weeks [166]. Moreover, AR inhibitors combined with PI3K-AKT-mTOR inhibitors such as GDC-0941, GDC-0980, and taselisib exhibited potential activity to suppress the growth of MDA-MB-231 cell lines *in vitro* and reduce the recurrence of tumors in TNBC patients [167,168]. Radiotherapy followed by the AR inhibitor enzalutamide showed a 'sensitization' effect on tumor cells [169].

#### Folate receptor

Folate receptor (FR) is overexpressed on the surface of cancer cells in more than 80 % of cases of metastatic TNBC and is one of the central mediators of cell growth regulation [170]. FR was shown to have a strong interaction with inflammatory and tumor cells and is therefore considered a potential candidate for the development of selective TNBC therapies [171]. Using folate conju-

gates, various chemotherapeutic agents and molecules, such as protein complexes, radioimaging agents, genes and antisense oligonucleotides, were delivered for the treatment of TNBC [172,173].

Folate receptor  $\alpha$  (FR $\alpha$ ) is a well-studied tumor biomarker that targets chemotherapeutic agents. Kayani et al. developed DOX-loaded  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin nanoparticles conjugated with folic acid (FDBNPs) to target folate receptors in TNBC. The effects of FDBNPs against MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines depicted ~1.3-fold higher inhibition of cell proliferation compared to DOX-loaded y,  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin nanoparticles and ~7.11-fold higher inhibition than DOX alone [174]. Wei et al. reported the effect of MTX, a folate antagonist, in combination with  $\alpha$  tocopherol and  $\alpha$  tocopherol succinate in TNBC. The results demonstrated that the combination of MTX with  $\alpha$ -tocopherol significantly reduced cell proliferation. However, the mechanisms through which  $\alpha$  tocopherol promotes MTX-induced cell proliferation remain unclear [175].

# Transferrin receptor

Transferrin receptors (TFRs) are plasma glycoproteins. TFR usually binds to iron (Fe(III)) and plasma proteins for the synthesis of hemoglobin. Furthermore, TFR-bound iron also interacts with proteins for cellular uptake and receptor-mediated endocytosis [176]. Because of TFR overexpression, cancer cells absorb high amounts of iron metabolites for the physiological processes involved in tumor progression and proliferation. The accumulation of iron by tumor cells made it evident to exploit the TFR for targeted drug delivery to cancer cells [177].

TFR receptors can be exploited for drug targeting to cancer cells by bypassing P-gp-mediated drug resistance. Tanovo et al. developed DOX-loaded transferrin-conjugated niosomes composed of Pluronic L64 and cholesterol. The efficacy of targeted niosomes was evaluated against MBD-MB-231 cells (TNBC) and MCF-7 cells. The authors reported that transferrin-conjugated NPs showed higher cellular uptake of the drug and reduced cell viability compared to DOX-loaded niosomes and plain DOX at 24-69 h posttreatment [178]. Gao et al. developed transferrin ligand (7-pep)conjugated PEGvlated micelles made up of poly(1-histidine)coupled polyethylene glycol-2000 and 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3 -phosphoethanolamine-polyethylene glycol-2000 for the delivery of DOX against MDR breast cancer. They designed a pH-sensitive micellar system to achieve better drug release of DOX at pH 6.0. The in vitro anticancer assay suggested that the cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of DOX were enhanced at the intracellular level in MCF-7/ADR cells. The targeted micelles enhanced TFRmediated endocytosis, and in vivo studies on nude mice bearing MCF-7/ADR showed ~2.1-fold higher drug internalization compared to the control [179].

Furthermore, Mazzucchelli et al. developed a TFR-1-specific binding ligand H-ferritin nanocage (HOla) for the delivery of olaparib against BRCA-mutated and sporadic TNBC. PARPis, such as olaparib, have limited efficacy due to poor aqueous solubility, lower bioavailability and inefficient nuclear targeting. Overexpressed TFR-1 in TNBC cell lines, such as MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468 and HCC1937, exhibited improved internalization of Hferritin in the cytosolic space followed by entry into the nucleus. HOla significantly improved the cytotoxic effect of olaparib, ~1000 times higher than that of the free drug, and PARP-1 cleavage followed by DNA double-strand damage was confirmed by the formation of nuclear  $\gamma$ -H2AX [180].

# Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 receptor

Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) is a glycoprotein receptor found on the cell surface that is highly overexpressed on inflammatory cells, is involved in immune cell recruitment and is upregulated by endothelial cytokines such as IL1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ). The reported studies suggest that ICAM-1 is associated with tumor cell adhesion and extravasation. Metastatic tumors overexpress ICAM-1, which could be attributed to the enhanced interaction of immune cells with cancer cells [181]. ICAM-1 is a potential biomarker for TNBC; however, the actual role of ICAM-1 expression in breast cancer patients remains unclear [182]. ICAM-1 gene silencing in TNBC cells significantly reduced tumor progression and metastasis [183]. Hence, targeting overexpressed ICAM-1 could be a promising therapeutic strategy for TNBC treatment.

Wang et al. carried out therapeutic targeting to ICAM-1 by developing cyanine 5.5 and ICAM-1 antibody-conjugated mesoporous organosilica nanoparticles loaded with DOX. The targeted NPs effectively accumulated inside MDA-MB-231 TNBC cells, which supported the lower cell viability compared to other treatment groups. The TNBC tumor model demonstrated that targeted NPs significantly reduced the tumor volume (more than 2 times) compared to control groups and free DOX [184].

Gao et al. reported that TNBC progression through EMT and enhanced angiogenesis were responsible for poor prognosis in TNBC [183]. They designed novel lipocalin 2 siRNA-loaded liposomes conjugated with an ICAM-1 mAb. This targeted liposomal system depicted effective binding and significantly reduced VEGF production, which was responsible for angiogenesis. Gao et al. in 2019 again used ICAM-1-specific targeting against TNBC to inhibit cell progression and metastasis by selectively blocking EGFR and ICAM-1 expression on the TNBC cell surface. They synthesized a DOX-loaded liposomal system engineered with a dual mAb, i.e., ICAM-1 and EGFR. The nanosized liposomes demonstrated higher affinity, greater localization, and diminished receptor signaling. The dual nanocarrier system substantially improved the tumor targeting and anticancer effectiveness against lung metastasis of TNBC [185].

#### Nucleolin receptor

Nucleolin is expressed in normal cells but overexpressed in cancerous cells, and it has also been identified as an angiogenic marker in endothelial cells. It promotes cancer cell proliferation and is involved in metastasis. Overexpressed nucleolin in cancer cells and tumor-associated blood vessels plays a critical role in processes related to angiogenesis and tumorigenesis [186].

The F3 peptide is a 31-amino-acid sequence that can selectively target nucleolin receptors on the surface of tumor cells. The F3 peptide directly binds to nucleolin and transports the F3 conjugated moiety to the nucleus. Pesarrodona et al. demonstrated nucleolin-targeted intracellular delivery of green fluorescent protein-tagged F3 peptide to MDA-MB-231 cancer stem cells [187]. Fonseca et al. developed F3 peptide-conjugated liposomes loaded with DOX for the identification of nucleolin receptors in both CSCs and nonstem-like cancer cells. They suggested that nucleolin overexpression is highly associated with the tumorigenic processes of TNBC. The targeted liposomes were capable of targeting the nucleus, which improved the cytotoxicity of the drug and induced nearly 100 % cell death. F3 peptide-mediated nanocarriers depicted specific targeting to angiogenic endothelial cells of both CSCs and nonstem-like cancer cells [188].

In another study, F3-functionalized carbon nanotubes were utilized for near infrared (NIR) light therapy targeting endothelial cells and MCF-7 cells. The results from this study demonstrate selective targeting to the tumor vasculature by mimicking HAAE-1 dividing endothelial cells, which was confirmed by confocal microscopy. The targeted nanocarriers significantly kill both dividing endothelial cells and BC cells, which could be attributed to the higher uptake of F3-conjugated carriers [189]. Moura et al. developed F3-conjugated pH-sensitive liposomes loaded with DOX, which showed ~177-fold higher cytotoxicity in HMEC-1 angiogenic endothelial cells and ~162-fold higher cytotoxicity in TNBC cell lines (MDA-MB-435S, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T) than the control. An *in vivo* study demonstrated 33-fold higher accumulation of drug in tumor mass compared to commercially available nontargeted and/or nonpH-sensitive liposomes [190].

# Role of mitochondrial reprogramming in TNBC and mitochondrial therapy

In breast cancer, dynamic related protein 1 (DRP-1) is upregulated, which is responsible for the reduction of oxidative processes and hence the resultant reduction in mitochondrial number [198]. Furthermore, another SH3GL2 gene, which expresses vesicular endocytosis-associated protein, is downregulated in cancer cells and helps in cancer progression. This gene encodes endophilin A1, which is involved in mitochondrial phosphorylation and translocation and promotes mitochondrial fusion via the mitofusin 2 and PCG-1 proteins. This results in the activation of intrinsic apoptosis via superoxide induction and cytochrome *C* release to the cytoplasm. This process reduces lung and liver metastasis associated with breast cancer [199,200].

Mitochondria in cancer cells utilize several metabolic pathways, such as glucose, glutamine and FA oxidation, to maintain energy demand for cell progression [201,202]. Recently, several mitochondrial targeted therapies were developed for the treatment of TNBC. Cancerous cells are dependent on exogenous amino acid supplements to produce energy [203]. Exogenous arginine is a semiessential amino acid needed for cancer cell viability and metabolism and produces nitric oxide, polyamines, nucleotides and glutamate. Due to arginine supplementation, cancer cells exhibit de novo chemoresistance [204]. Qiu et al. inhibited arginine auxotrophy by downregulating argininosuccinate synthetase (an enzyme involved in arginine synthesis) by PEGylated arginine deiminase, resulting in induced autophagy-dependent cell death. Furthermore, arginine deficiency induces oxidative stress in mitochondria, which leads to impairment of mitochondrial integrity to disrupt bioenergetics and the generation of ROS, which kill cancer cells [205]. Arginine starvation also induces asparagine synthetase expression, which improves cellular asparagine to dysfunction of the malateaspartate shuttle, which leads to the induction of cellular death through electron transfer to the mitochondrial matrix from the cytoplasm [206].

Another approach to induce cell death in TNBC could be achieved by the reduction of ATP synthesis by inhibiting oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) [201]. Metformin, a well-known antidiabetic drug, is used as an anticancer agent. Metformin inhibits OXPHOS by blocking complex 1 of the electron transport chain, with a resultant reduction in energy production by TNBC cells [207]. Metformin and glycolytic inhibitor (2-deoxy-D-glucose, 3bromopyruvic acid, 6-aminonicotinamide, longamine, oxythiamine chloride HCl and shikonin) combinations are highly potent therapeutic agents against glycolytic nonstem- and stem-like cancer cells [208]. Similarly, a therapeutic agent named FR58P1a (bromoalkyl ester of hydroquinone compound) affects mitochondrial metabolism and reduces the migration and metastasis of cancer cells by downregulating OXPHOS and altering glycolysis metabolism [209].

Zhang et al. reported that aberrant upregulation of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein-1 (TRAP-1) is associated with tumorigenesis in TNBC. TRAP-1 knockdown by small nuclear RNA (snRNA) downregulated TRAP-1 expression, which led to mitochondrial aerobic respiration, sensitizing MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells to lethal stimuli, decreasing cell viability, suppressing cell migration and invasion and inducing mitochondrial fusion *in vitro* and *in vivo* [210].

#### Immunotherapy

Activation of the immune system in the cell is regulated by tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), which help in inflammation within tissues, including normal and tumor tissues [211]. TAAs increase the expression of CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes in tumors by chemokines and interleukins [212,213]. During the immunogenic process, transformed malignant cells can be eliminated by natural killer cells (T cells, IL-6, etc.), but this process develops a heterogeneous condition in tumor cells that can adapt to resistance [214]. This adaptive resistance may be acquired by the loss of antigens, dysregulation of cell signaling cascades and/or prolonged T-cellcell stimulation, resulting in the loss of cytokine expression, which leads to the loss of immune effects. Immune system loss is highly associated with the induction of immune checkpoint inhibitors such as programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death-1 ligand (PD-L1) protein expression. Overexpression of PD-1 and PD-L1 induces an aberrant signaling cascade, a reduction in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and cytokine secretion, which reduces tumor inflammation and tumor cell elimination [215].

Wrangle et al. demonstrated that upregulation of PD-1 and PD-L1 occurred due to epigenetic changes such as DNA methylation and histone methylation, which reduced the secretion of chemokines such as CKXL9 and CXCL10, which consequently reduced CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell-cell production within tumors, resultant repression of the immune system and development of resistance. The immune system of tumors is repressed and develops resistance [216].

Immunotherapy-based monotreatment does not produce enough effects to eliminate advanced TNBC due to the adaptive immune system within the tumor. For example, pembrolizumab and atezolizumab are FDA-approved anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 mAbs, respectively, which have shown limited efficacy against TNBC [217]. Hence, for effective TNBC therapy, checkpoint inhibitors need to be inhibited, and the treatment should be supplemented with some chemotherapeutic agents. When the abovementioned mAbs were combined with PTX and nab-PTX. a resultant reduction in PD-1 and PD-L1 levels was observed, which improved the efficacy of the chemotherapeutic agents, reversed drug resistance and increased PFS in a phase 3 clinical trial [218]. Several chemotherapeutic agents, such as carboplatin, PTX, anthracyclines and cyclophosphamides, have been combined with immunotherapeutics and are under clinical phases of investigation [219-222].

Epigenetic modification leads to an aberrant signaling cascade that is linked with immunosuppression by increasing myeloidderived suppressor cells. Thus, inhibition of signaling cascades may improve the efficacy of immunotherapy. Immunotherapeutic agents combined with various cell signaling pathway inhibitors, such as VEGF inhibitors (bevacizumab), AKT inhibitors (MK-2206), mTOR inhibitors (rapamycin), MEK inhibitors (trametinib) and PARP inhibitors (olaparib, niraparib and valiparib), potentiate the efficacy of immunotherapy by reducing PD-1 expression in tumors and increasing T-cell-mediated cell death [223]. Furthermore, it was also reported that mocetinostat, an HDAC inhibitor, increased the immunotherapeutic efficacy of PD-L-mAb in combination by reducing PD-1 levels in tumors [224].

#### Recent advances in therapeutic intervention for TNBC

#### CAR-T-cell therapy in triple-negative breast cancer

Genetically modified peripheral blood lymphocytes, which are generally known as chimeric antigen receptors (CARs), have gained interest in the treatment of several cancers, including TNBC, and they are an alternative strategy for the TILs method. The advantage of this treatment includes the ability of CARs to recognize the cancer and its antigens [225]. CAR contains three crucial parts, i.e., a transmembrane domain, an endodomain, and an extracellular domain. A tumor antigen-specific mAb fragment of the T cells recognizes the CAR, and the complete process is known as CAR-T-cell therapy. Through viral or nonviral vectors, CARs interact with T cells, and once T cells are activated as living drugs, antigenspecific interactions, activation, proliferation, and cytotoxic activities occur [226]. However, the potency of T-cell activation is dependent upon the strength of the signal received and costimulatory molecules. Therefore, the clinically enhanced CAR-T costimulation signal must be chosen appropriately. Second-generation CARs consist of CD137 or CD28 as a costimulation domain that promotes T-cell proliferation [227].

CAR-T-based cell therapy was successfully achieved in hematologic cancers that target B-cell antigens in clinical trials (NCT02435849, NCT02445248 and NCT02348216). However, CAR-T therapy against B-cell malignancy in solid tumors did not exhibit remarkable clinical outcomes [228]. Several targets are considered potential CAR targets, such as mesothelin, folate receptor, tumor endothelial marker 8, receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1, receptor tyrosine kinase c-Met, chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 4 (CSPG4), ICAM-1 and integrin αvb3, in TNBC. By focusing on such target antigens, unwanted toxicities to healthy tissues may be reduced.

CAR-T therapy for solid tumors can have better clinical outcomes when used in conjunction with other forms of treatments. For example, ECM- or CAF-targeting drugs can be used to boost the anticancer effects of CAR-T cells. Antiangiogenic drugs can be used to improve the trafficking of CAR-Ts to tumor sites, and macrophage- or monocyte-eliminating drugs are helpful for magnifying the antitumor effect of CAR-Ts. In this regard, hematologic and solid tumors, including TNBC, have been studied for the treatment of gdCAR-Ts and CAR-expressing NK cells (CAR-NKs). These different CAR-expressing effector cells could be useful for overcoming various CAR-T treatment difficulties. Enhancing the specificity, safety, and efficacy of CAR-T therapy in solid tumors by both selecting the most suitable target antigens and addressing the unmet restriction difficulties is crucial for the success of CAR-T therapy in TNBC [229,230].

# Role of the gut microbiota (GM) in TNBC and its therapy

The human body harbors microbes. The ratio of microbial cells to human cells is reported to be 1.3:2.5 [231]. Microbes generally reside in the gut, lungs, brain, skin and placenta [232]. The balance ratio of microbes has a distinctive role in the immune system, hemostasis and metabolism in the human body [233]. However, the increased colonization of the microbiome due to external factors such as the environment, lifestyle, and diet affects biochemical and cellular functions. The microbiome composition starts appearing in the gut, which is termed the gut microbiota (GM) at the age of 3-5 years, and more than 90 % of microbial cells colonize. Th healthy GM safely regulates the immune system by modulating immune tolerance to prevent the translocation of the other microbiome in host cells and elicit the pertinent immune response [234]. Through the release of carcinogenic chemicals, maintenance of proinflammatory conditions, and/or promotion of epigenetic modifications in our genome, it may inhibit or promote carcinogenesis. Additionally, it can influence metastasis and recurrence by interacting with the immune system [233].

The breast and breast tumor microbiome have now been extensively studied, and among all breast cancer forms, TNBC has the lowest taxonomic diversity in its tumor microbiota. The microbiota present in breast tumor tissues are found mainly from the *Actinobacteria*, *Bactaroidetes* and *Firmicutes Phyla* species [125]. It has also been reported that some of the microbiota translocated from the gut to breast tissues through the enteromammary route [128]. Tumor microbiota colonization increased the permeability of the TME by leaky vascularization and angiogenesis processes. Due to high hypoxia and neutrient-rich tumor tissues, the anaerobic microbiota facilitates the suppressive immune response [131–134].

The intratumoral microbiota associated with TNBC proliferation and metastasis can be considered one of the hallmarks of cancer. The particular aspects of the TME, including low oxygen levels, leaky blood vessels, and immune suppression, support the development of bacteria that are specifically adapted to flourish in tumors. This intrinsic ability of bacteria may allow for the utilization of these organisms as diagnostic or therapeutic agents.

The treatment of TNBC and other cancers with immunotherapeutics has increased in the past few years. The treatment of TNBC with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) is known to provide better benefits in patients. TNBC has better expression of PD-L1 than other types of BC [235]. The TME has higher levels of TILs and CDs-associated T cells. Cancer and anticancer therapies have direct interactions with the GM. The application of pharmacomicrobiomics could potentiate the therapeutic response to chemotherapy and ICIs [236]. For example, one of the studies demonstrated that CTLA-4 has been utilized in immunotherapy; however, its antitumor efficacy was blocked by several Bactaroidetes species. Hence, they utilized the *B. thetaiotaomicron* and/or *B. fragilis* along with CTLA-4 therapy and observed antibody targeting with blockade of CTLA-4 through immunostimulatory effects [237]. Similarly, Sivan et al. demonstrated that the use of *Bifidobacterium* enhanced tumor control by its immunomodulatory effect on PD-L1 in mice. When Bifidobacterium was combined with the ICI, tumor growth was almost eliminated [238]. Moreover, with the selection of appropriate and potential microbiomes, TNBC progression could be reversed by changing dietary habits, modifying fecal microbial transplantation, and using probiotic mechanisms. The ehnaced therapeutic efficacy and overall survival response of the patients can also be enhanced by a combination of the potential microbiomes [233].

# **Conclusions and future perspectives**

TNBC is the most challenging among all subtypes of breast cancers. It contributes approximately 20 % of the total population of BC patients. Multiple conventional strategies explored in the current decade could not provide substantial benefit to the patient population, and recurrence was observed in the majority of the patients. Multiple factors contribute to the aggressiveness of TNBC. Mutations in several genes, cellular drivers, metabolic alterations, epigenetic dysregulation, overexpression of signaling pathways, cell surface receptors, and immunomodulation lower the response of TNBC to radiation and chemotherapies and remain untreated. Thus, TNBC tumor cells recur and metastasize. A vast magnitude of effort has been made in this regard by the scientific community across the globe. The results of preclinical and clinical studies appear promising. The analysis of results suggests that there is a great need to address the heterogeneous tumor microenvironment, inter- and intrasubject variability, inter- and intratumoral heterogeneity, role of stem cells and associated modifications along with genetic and epigenetic changes. The role of cell signaling cascades and immune responses cannot be overlooked.

As we keep on learning about cancer, more complex it becomes over the period of time. Apart from surgery, radiation and chemotherapy other avenues like gene editing techniques, phytopharmaceuticals, photodynamic therapy, theranostics, biologicals and bioelectronic medicines need to be explored as combination therapy with one or the other. The development of combinatorial regimens will help in achieving a wide range of applications, including the prevention of recurrence, metastasis and chemoresistance. The ultimate goal remains the development of a safe therapeutic regimen with less toxic components and targeting common mechanisms prevalent in TNBC epithelial cells and CSCs. Targeted nanomedicines can offer all these benefits if a common receptor prevalent across multiple cell population in a single tumor mass was employed for delivering biologically active components.

Compliance with ethics requirement:

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Not Applicable.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no conflicts of interest. **Submission declaration and verification**: The author\* declares that the work is original, and is not submitted anywhere yet. The Similarity check was done by turnitin software. The Manuscript has 8 % similarity.

**Copyright:** The datasets used and/or generated during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request. The datasets adapted during this study are included and cited with in the article.

Funding

Science and Engineering Research Board (SERB), Department of Science and Technology (DST), New Delhi, India is supported the research fund to the corresponding author.

# **CRediT authorship contribution statement**

**Hitesh Kumar:** Writing – original draft, Conceptualization. **N. Vishal Gupta:** Writing – review & editing. **Rupshee Jain:** Writing – original draft. **SubbaRao V. Madhunapantula:** Writing – review & editing. **C. Saravana Babu:** Writing – review & editing. **Siddharth S. Kesharwani:** Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft. **Surajit Dey:** Writing – original draft. **Vikas Jain:** Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Conceptualization.

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgments

The author\* would like acknowledge "Science and Engineering Research Board (SERB), Department of Science and Technology (DST), New Delhi, India" for providing the research funding (EMR/2016/006338).

#### References

- Reynolds BA, Oli MW, Oli MK. Eco-oncology: applying ecological principles to understand and manage cancer. Ecol Evol 2020;10:8538–53. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6590</u>.
- [2] Dinakar YH, Kumar H, Mudavath SL, Jain R, Ajmeer R, Jain V. Role of STAT3 in the initiation, progression, proliferation and metastasis of breast cancer and strategies to deliver JAK and STAT3 inhibitors. Life Sci 2022;309:. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2022.120996</u>120996.
- [3] Worldwide cancer data, Glob. Cancer Stat. Most Common Cancers World. 2020. https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/cancer-trends/worldwidecancer-data.
- [4] Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA: Cancer J Clin 2021;71:7–33. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21654</u>.
- [5] Mehrotra R, Yadav K. Breast cancer in India: present scenario and the challenges ahead. World J Clin Oncol 2022;13:209–18. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.5306/wico.v13.i3.209</u>.
- [6] Kumar H, Kumar RM, Bhattacharjee D, Somanna P, Jain V. Role of Nrf2 signaling cascade in breast cancer: strategies and treatment. Front Pharmacol 2022;13:. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.720076</u>720076.
- [7] Yao H, He G, Yan S, Chen C, Song L, Rosol TJ, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: is there a treatment on the horizon? Oncotarget 2017;8:1913–24. , 10.18632/oncotarget.12284.

- [8] Yin L, Duan JJ, Bian XW, Yu SC. Triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtyping and treatment progress. Breast Cancer Res 2020;22. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13058-020-01296-5</u>.
- [9] Gooding AJ, Schiemann WP. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition programs and cancer stem cell phenotypes: mediators of breast cancer therapy resistance. Mol Cancer Res 2020;18:1257–70. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.</u> <u>MCR-20-0067</u>.
- [10] Feng Y, Spezia M, Huang S, Yuan C, Zeng Z, Zhang L, et al. Breast cancer development and progression: risk factors, cancer stem cells, signaling pathways, genomics, and molecular pathogenesis. Genes Dis 2018;5:77–106. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2018.05.001.
- [11] Al-Mahmood S, Sapiezynski J, Garbuzenko OB, Minko T. Metastatic and triplenegative breast cancer: challenges and treatment options. Drug Deliv Transl Res 2018;8:1483–507. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13346-018-0551-3</u>.
- [12] Bubnov R, Polivka J, Zubor P, Konieczka K, Golubnitschaja O. "Pre-metastatic niches" in breast cancer: are they created by or prior to the tumour onset? "Flammer Syndrome" relevance to address the question. EPMA J 2017;8:141–57. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13167-017-0092-8</u>.
- [13] Jain V, Kumar H, Jain R. Targeting triple-negative breast cancers using nanomedicine. In: Target Nanomedicine Breast Cancer Ther; 2022. p. 199– 255. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-824476-0.00004-8.
- [14] Bianchini G, De Angelis C, Licata L, Gianni L. Treatment landscape of triplenegative breast cancer – expanded options, evolving needs. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2022;19:91–113. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-021-00565-2</u>.
- [15] Patel KK, Hassan D, Nair S, Tejovath S, Kahlon SS, Peddemul A, et al. Role of immunotherapy in the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer: a literature review. Cureus 2022. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.31729</u>.
- [16] Mazurakova A, Koklesova L, Samec M, Kudela E, Kajo K, Skuciova V, et al. Antibreast cancer effects of phytochemicals: primary, secondary, and tertiary care. EPMA J 2022;13:315–34. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13167-022-00277-2</u>.
- [17] Torres Crigna A, Link B, Samec M, Giordano FA, Kubatka P, Golubnitschaja O. Endothelin-1 axes in the framework of predictive, preventive and personalised (3P) medicine. EPMA J 2021. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13167-021-00248-z</u>.
- [18] Golubnitschaja O, Liskova A, Koklesova L, Samec M, Biringer K, Büsselberg D, et al. Caution, "normal" BMI: health risks associated with potentially masked individual underweight—EPMA Position Paper 2021. EPMA J 2021;12:243–64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13167-021-00251-4</u>.
- [19] Zhan X, Li J, Guo Y, Golubnitschaja O. Mass spectrometry analysis of human tear fluid biomarkers specific for ocular and systemic diseases in the context of 3P medicine. EPMA J 2021;12:449–75. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13167-021-00265-y</u>.
- [20] Baghban R, Roshangar L, Jahanban-Esfahlan R, Seidi K, Ebrahimi-Kalan A, Jaymand M, et al. Tumor microenvironment complexity and therapeutic implications at a glance. Cell Commun Signal 2020;18. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12964-020-0530-4</u>.
- [21] Shibata M, Hoque MO. Targeting cancer stem cells: a strategy for effective eradication of cancer. Cancers (Basel) 2019;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers11050732</u>.
- [22] Zheng H, Siddharth S, Parida S, Wu X, Sharma D. Tumor microenvironment: key players in triple negative breast cancer immunomodulation. Cancers (Basel) 2021;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13133357</u>.
- [23] Deepak KGK, Vempati R, Nagaraju GP, Dasari VR, Nagini S, Rao DN, et al. Tumor microenvironment: challenges and opportunities in targeting metastasis of triple negative breast cancer. Pharmacol Res 2020;153. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.phrs.2020.104683</u>.
- [24] Lee SH, Griffiths JR. How and why are cancers acidic? Carbonic anhydrase ix and the homeostatic control of tumour extracellular ph. Cancers (Basel) 2020;12:1–23. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12061616</u>.
- [25] Sormendi S, Wielockx B. Hypoxia pathway proteins as central mediators of metabolism in the tumor cells and their microenvironment. Front Immunol 2018;9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00040</u>.
- [26] Klein D. The tumor vascular endothelium as decision maker in cancer therapy. Front Oncol 2018;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00367</u>.
- [27] Dai W, Yang F, Ma L, Fan Y, He B, He Q, et al. Combined mTOR inhibitor rapamycin and doxorubicin-loaded cyclic octapeptide modified liposomes for targeting integrin α3 in triple-negative breast cancer. Biomaterials 2014;35:5347–58. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.biomaterials.2014.03.036</u>.
- [28] Chouaib S, Noman MZ, Kosmatopoulos K, Curran MA. Hypoxic stress: obstacles and opportunities for innovative immunotherapy of cancer. Oncogene 2017;36:439–45. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.225</u>.
- [29] Dias CJ, Helguero L, Faustino MAF. Current photoactive molecules for targeted therapy of triple-negative breast cancer. Molecules 2021;26. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26247654</u>.
- [30] Liang R, Liu L, He H, Chen Z, Han Z, Luo Z, et al. Oxygen-boosted immunogenic photodynamic therapy with gold nanocages@manganese dioxide to inhibit tumor growth and metastases. Biomaterials 2018;177:149–60. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.05.051</u>.
- [31] Schmit K, Michiels C. TMEM proteins in cancer: a review. Front Pharmacol 2018;9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.01345</u>.
- [32] Muley H, Fadó R, Rodríguez-Rodríguez R, Casals N. Drug uptake-based chemoresistance in breast cancer treatment. Biochem Pharmacol 2020;177. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2020.113959</u>.
- [33] Trivedi R, Arora S, Lamptey RNL, Chaulagain B, Singh J, Layek B, editors. A summarized view of lipid, polyplex, inorganic, and carbon-based

nanotherapeutics for hepatocellular carcinoma treatment. In: Nanotherapeutics Treat Hepatocell Carcinoma. Bentham Science Publishers; 2022. p. 248–79. doi: 10.2174/9789815039740122010008.

- [34] Kroll T, Prescher M, Smits SHJ, Schmitt L. Structure and function of hepatobiliary ATP binding cassette transporters. Chem Rev 2021;121:5240–88. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.0c00659</u>.
- [35] Xiao H, Zheng Y, Ma L, Tian L, Sun Q. Clinically-relevant ABC transporter for anti-cancer drug resistance. Front Pharmacol 2021;12. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fphar.2021.648407</u>.
- [36] Xu L, Zhao Z, Wang K, Zhou H, Xing C. Expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 and ATP-binding cassette superfamily G member 2 is enhanced in primary foci and metastatic lymph node from patients with triple-negative breast cancer. Biomed Res 2017;28:5078–83.
- [37] Lainetti PF, Leis-Filho AF, Laufer-Amorim R, Battazza A, Fonseca-Alves CE. Mechanisms of resistance to chemotherapy in breast cancer and possible targets in drug delivery systems. Pharmaceutics 2020;12:1–20. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12121193</u>.
- [38] Chaudhuri A, Kumar DN, Dehari D, Singh S, Kumar P, Bolla PK, et al. Emergence of nanotechnology as a powerful cavalry against triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC). Pharmaceuticals 2022;15. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ ph15050542</u>.
- [39] Hamed AR, Abdel-Azim NS, Shams KA, Hammouda FM. Targeting multidrug resistance in cancer by natural chemosensitizers. Bull Natl Res Cent 2019;43. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42269-019-0043-8</u>.
- [40] Chen L, Manautou JE, Rasmussen TP, Zhong X. Development of precision medicine approaches based on inter-individual variability of BCRP/ABCG2. Acta Pharm Sin B 2019;9:659–74. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2019.01.007</u>.
- [41] Wu S, Fu L. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors enhanced the efficacy of conventional chemotherapeutic agent in multidrug resistant cancer cells. Mol Cancer 2018;17. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-018-0775-3</u>.
- [42] Nanayakkara AK, Follit CA, Chen G, Williams NS, Vogel PD, Wise JG. Targeted inhibitors of P-glycoprotein increase chemotherapeutic-induced mortality of multidrug resistant tumor cells. Sci Rep 2018;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>s41598-018-19325-x</u>.
- [43] Nedeljković M, Damjanović A. Mechanisms of chemotherapy resistance in triple-negative breast cancer-how we can rise to the challenge. Cells 2019;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8090957</u>.
- [44] Hu J, Li J, Yue X, Wang JC, Wang JF, Liu JZ, Kong DL. Targeting BCRP/ABCG2 by RNA interference enhances the chemotherapy sensitivity of human colon cancer side population cells. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technol - Med Sci 2017;37:231–6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11596-017-1720-1</u>.
- [45] Steward LT, Gao F, Taylor MA, Margenthaler JA. Impact of radiation therapy on survival in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. Oncol Lett 2014;7:548-52. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2013.1700</u>.
- [46] Tang L, Wei F, Wu Y, He Y, Shi L, Xiong F, et al. Role of metabolism in cancer cell radioresistance and radiosensitization methods. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2018;37. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0758-7</u>.
- [47] Menaa C, Li JJ. The role of radiotherapy-resistant stem cells in breast cancer recurrence. Breast Cancer Manag 2013;2:89–92. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/</u> <u>bmt.13.5</u>.
- [48] Ko YS, Rugira T, Jin H, Joo YN, Kim HJ. Radiotherapy-resistant breast cancer cells enhance tumor progression by enhancing premetastatic niche formation through the HIF-1α-LOX axis. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21:1–14. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/iims21218027</u>.
- [49] Bai X, Ni J, Beretov J, Wasinger VC, Wang S, Zhu Y, et al. Activation of the elF2α/ATF4 axis drives triple-negative breast cancer radioresistance by promoting glutathione biosynthesis. Redox Biol 2021;43. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.101993</u>.
- [50] Bai X, Ni J, Beretov J, Wang S, Dong X, Graham P, et al. THOC2 and THOC5 regulate stemness and radioresistance in triple-negative breast cancer. Adv Sci 2021;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.202102658</u>.
- [51] Pesch AM, Pierce LJ, Speers CW. Modulating the radiation response for improved outcomes in breast cancer. JCO Precis Oncol 2021:245–64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/po.20.00297</u>.
- [52] Khan A, Ahmed E, Elareer N, Junejo K, Steinhoff M, Uddin S. Role of miRNAregulated cancer stem cells in the pathogenesis of human malignancies. Cells 2019;8:840. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8080840</u>.
- [53] Yang L, Shi P, Zhao G, Xu J, Peng W, Zhang J, et al. Targeting cancer stem cell pathways for cancer therapy. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2020;5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0110-5.
- [54] Phi LTH, Sari IN, Yang YG, Lee SH, Jun N, Kim KS, et al. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in drug resistance and their therapeutic implications in cancer treatment. Stem Cells Int 2018:2018. doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5416923.
- Stem Cells Int 2018;2018. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5416923</u>.
  [55] Sun HR, Wang S, Yan SC, Zhang Y, Nelson PJ, Jia HL, et al. Therapeutic strategies targeting cancer stem cells and their microenvironment. Front Oncol 2019;9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01104</u>.
- [56] Bi Y, Shi X, Chen D, Zhao Y. CD133, but not CD44, may serve as a novel biomarker for differential diagnosis between basal cell carcinoma and trichoblastomas. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol 2022;15:1517–26. doi: https://doi.org/10.2147/CCID.S373331.
- [57] Jain V, Kumar H, Anod HV, Chand P, Gupta NV, Dey S, et al. A review of nanotechnology-based approaches for breast cancer and triple-negative breast cancer. J Control Release 2020;326:628–47. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.iconrel.2020.07.003</u>.

- [58] Zhang M, Zhang YY, Chen Y, Wang J, Wang Q, Lu H. TGF-β signaling and resistance to cancer therapy. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021;9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcell.2021.786728</u>.
- [59] Fultang N, Chakraborty M, Peethambaran B. Regulation of cancer stem cells in triple negative breast cancer. Cancer Drug Resist 2021;4:321–42., 10.20517/ cdr.2020.106.
- [60] Xu X, Zhang L, He X, Zhang P, Sun C, Xu X, et al. TGF-β plays a vital role in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) drug-resistance through regulating stemness, EMT and apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2018;502:160–5. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.05.139</u>.
- [61] Bhola NE, Balko JM, Dugger TC, Kuba MG, Sánchez V, Sanders M, et al. TGF-β inhibition enhances chemotherapy action against triple-negative breast cancer. J Clin Invest 2013;123:1348–58. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI65416</u>.
- [62] Paller C, Pu H, Begemann DE, Wade CA, Hensley PJ, Kyprianou N. TGF-β receptor I inhibitor enhances response to enzalutamide in a pre-clinical model of advanced prostate cancer. Prostate 2019;79:31–43. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.23708</u>.
- [63] de Streel G, Lucas S. Targeting immunosuppression by TGF-β1 for cancer immunotherapy. Biochem Pharmacol 2021;192. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.bcp.2021.114697</u>.
- [64] Batista-Duharte A, Sendra L, Herrero MJ, Téllez-Martínez D, Carlos IZ, Aliño SF. Progress in the use of antisense oligonucleotides for vaccine improvement. Biomolecules 2020;10. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> biom10020316.
- [65] Braune EB, Seshire A, Lendahl U. Notch and Wnt dysregulation and its relevance for breast cancer and tumor initiation. Biomedicines 2018;6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines6040101</u>.
- [66] Zhou J, Chen Q, Zou Y, Zheng S, Chen Y. Stem cells and cellular origins of mammary gland: Updates in rationale, controversies, and cancer relevance. Stem Cells Int 2019;2019. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4247168</u>.
- [67] Kong P, Chen L, Yu M, Tao J, Liu J, Wang Y, et al. miR-3178 inhibits cell proliferation and metastasis by targeting Notch1 in triple-negative breast cancer. Cell Death Dis 2018;9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-1091-v</u>.
- [68] Giuli MV, Giuliani E, Screpanti I, Bellavia D, Checquolo S. Notch signaling activation as a hallmark for triple-negative breast cancer subtype. J Oncol 2019;2019. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8707053</u>.
- [69] Xie X, Kaoud TS, Edupuganti R, Zhang T, Kogawa T, Zhao Y, et al. C-Jun Nterminal kinase promotes stem cell phenotype in triple-negative breast cancer through upregulation of Notch1 via activation of c-Jun. Oncogene 2017;36:2599–608. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.417</u>.
- [70] Zeng D, Liang YK, Xiao YS, Wei XL, Lin HY, Wu Y, et al. Inhibition of Notch1 reverses EMT and chemoresistance to cisplatin via direct downregulation of MCAM in triple-negative breast cancer cells. Int J Cancer 2020;147:490–504. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jic.32911</u>.
- [71] Abreu de Oliveira WA, Moens S, El Laithy Y, van der Veer BK, Athanasouli P, Cortesi EE, et al. Wnt/β-catenin inhibition disrupts carboplatin resistance in isogenic models of triple-negative breast cancer. Front Oncol 2021;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2021.705384</u>.
- [72] Kameyama H, Nagahashi M, Shimada Y, Tajima Y, Ichikawa H, Nakano M, Sakata J, Kobayashi T, Narayanan S, Takabe K, Wakai T, Asquith M, Powrie F, Wehkamp J, Salzman NH, Porter E, Nuding S, Weichenthal M, Petras RE, Shen B, Schaeffeler E, Schwab M, Linzmeier R, Feathers RW, Chu H, Lima H, Fellermann K, Ganz T, Stange EF, Bevins CL, Meletis K, Wirta V, Hede SM, Nistér M, Lundeberg J, Frisén J, Tian H, Biehs B, Warming S, Leong KG, Rangell L, Klein OD, de Sauvage FJ, Takeda N, Jain R, LeBoeuf MR, Wang Q, Lu MM, Epstein JA, Yan KS, Chia LA, Li X, Ootani A, Su J, Lee JY, Su N, Luo Y, Heilshorn SC, Amieva MR, Sangiorgi E, Capecchi MR, Kuo CJ, Kim TH, Escudero S, Shivdasani RA, Davidson LA, Callaway ES, Kim E, Weeks BR, Fan YY, Allred CD, Chapkin RS, Yousefi M, Li N, Nakauka-Ddamba A, Wang S, Davidow K, Schoenberger J, Yu Z, Jensen ST, Kharas MG, Lengner CJ, Giroux V, Lento AA, Islam M, Pitarresi JR, Kharbanda A, Hamilton KE, Whelan KA, Long A, Rhoades B, Tang Q, Nakagawa H, Lengner CJ, Bass AJ, Wileyo EP, Klein-Szanto AJ, Wang TC, Rustgi AK, Santos AJM, Lo YH, Mah AT, Kuo CJ, de Sousa e Melo F, de Sauvage FJ, Wellenstein MD, Coffelt SB, Duits DEM, van Miltenburg MH, Slagter M, de Rink I, Henneman L, Kas SM, Prekovic S, Hau CS, Vrijland K, Drenth AP, de Korte-Grimmerink R, Schut E, van der Heijden I, Zwart W, Wessels LFA, Schumacher TN, Jonkers J, de Visser KE, Barker N, Van Es JH, Kuipers J, Kujala P, Van Den Born M, Cozijnsen M, Haegebarth A, Korving J, Begthel H, Peters PJ, Clevers H, Verhoeckx K, Cotter P, López-Expósito I, Kleiveland C, Lea T, Mackie A, Requena T, Swiatecka D, Wichers H, Treveil A, Sudhakar P, Matthews ZJ, Wrzesinski T, Jones EJ, Brooks J, Olbei M, Hautefort I, Hall LJ, Carding SR, Mayer U, Powell PP, Wileman T, Di Palma F, Haerty W, Korcsmáros T, Whibley C, Pharoah PDP, Hollstein M, Bieging KT, Mello SS, Attardi LD, Stidham RW, Higgins PDR, Watanabe K, Ikuno Y, Kakeya Y, Ikeno S, Taniura H, Kurono M, Minemori K, Katsuyama Y, Naka-Kaneda H, Tang J, Feng Y, Kuick R, Green MM, Green MM, Sakamoto N, Kurosu Y, Lin J, Cho KR, Fearon ER, Serra D, Mayr U, Boni A, Lukonin I, Rempfler M, Challet Meylan L, Stadler MB, Strnad P, Papasaikas P, Vischi D, Waldt A, Roma G, Liberali P, Ayyaz A, Kumar S, Sangiorgi B, Ghoshal B, Gosio J, Ouladan S, Fink M, Barutcu S, Trcka D, Shen J, Chan K, Wrana JL, Gregorieff A, Neurath MF, Chen J, Huang XF. Loss of p53 triggers WNT-dependent systemic inflammation to drive breast cancer metastasis. Nature 2019;109:466-71. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1154-y%0A

- [73] Wen X, Wu Y, Awadasseid A, Tanaka Y, Zhang W. New advances in canonical wnt/β-catenin signaling in cancer. Cancer Manag Res 2020;12:6987–98. doi: https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S258645.
- [74] Xu X, Zhang M, Xu F, Jiang S. Wnt signaling in breast cancer: biological mechanisms, challenges and opportunities. Mol Cancer 2020;19. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12943-020-01276-5</u>.
- [75] Jang G-B, Kim J-Y, Cho S-D, Park K-S, Jung J-Y, Lee H-Y, et al. Blockade of Wnt/ β-catenin signaling suppresses breast cancer metastasis by inhibiting CSClike phenotype. Sci Rep 2015;5:12465. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>srep12465</u>.
- [76] Zheng L, Rui C, Zhang H, Chen J, Jia X, Xiao Y. Sonic hedgehog signaling in epithelial tissue development. Regen Med Res 2019;7:3. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1051/rmr/190004</u>.
- [77] Di Mauro C, Rosa R, D'Amato V, Ciciola P, Servetto A, Marciano R, et al. Hedgehog signalling pathway orchestrates angiogenesis in triple-negative breast cancers. Br J Cancer 2017;116:1425–35. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ bic.2017.116</u>.
- [78] Riobo-Del Galdo N, Lara Montero Á, Wertheimer E. Role of hedgehog signaling in breast cancer: pathogenesis and therapeutics. Cells 2019;8:375. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8040375</u>.
- [79] Chai JY, Sugumar V, Alshanon AF, Wong WF, Fung SY, Looi CY. Defining the role of GL/hedgehog signaling in chemoresistance: implications in therapeutic approaches. Cancers (Basel) 2021;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3390/cancers13194746.
- [80] Riobo-Del Galdo NA, Montero ÁL, Wertheimer EV. Role of hedgehog signaling in breast cancer: pathogenesis and therapeutics. Cells 2019;8. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/cells8040375</u>.
- [81] Liang Y, Yang L, Xie J. The role of the hedgehog pathway in chemoresistance of gastrointestinal cancers. Cells 2021;10:2030. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells10082030</u>.
- [82] Babaei G, Aziz SGG, Jaghi NZZ. EMT, cancer stem cells and autophagy; the three main axes of metastasis. Biomed Pharmacother 2021;133. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.biopha.2020.110909</u>.
- [83] Lu Y, Zhu Y, Deng S, Chen Y, Li W, Sun J, et al. Targeting the sonic hedgehog pathway to suppress the expression of the cancer stem cell (Csc)-related transcription factors and csc-driven thyroid tumor growth. Cancers (Basel) 2021;13:1–20. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13030418.
- [84] Chung S, Jin Y, Han B, Qu Y, Gao B, Giuliano AE, et al. Identification of EGF-NFκB-FOXC1 signaling axis in basal-like breast cancer. Cell Commun Signal 2017;15:22. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-017-0180-3</u>.
- [85] Bhateja P, Cherian M, Majumder S, Ramaswamy B. The hedgehog signaling pathway: a viable target in breast cancer? Cancers (Basel) 2019;11. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11081126.
- [86] Huang CY, Chung CL, Hu TH, Chen JJ, Liu PF, Chen CL. Recent progress in TGF-β inhibitors for cancer therapy. Biomed Pharmacother 2021;134. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.biopha.2020.111046</u>.
- [87] de Gramont A, Faivre S, Raymond E. Novel TGF-β inhibitors ready for prime time in onco-immunology. Oncoimmunology 2017;6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1257453.
- [88] Venkatesh V, Nataraj R, Thangaraj GS, Karthikeyan M, Gnanasekaran A, Kaginelli SB, et al. Targeting notch signalling pathway of cancer stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 2018;5. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2018.02.02</u>.
- [89] PB. Notch inhibition as a promising new approach to cancer therapy. Adv Exp Med Biol 2012;727:305–19. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-0899-4\_23.
- [90] Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2015;12:445–64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.61</u>.
- [91] Zhang Y, Wang X. Targeting the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in cancer. J Hematol Oncol 2020;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00990-3</u>.
- [92] Naujokat C, Steinhart R. Salinomycin as a drug for targeting human cancer stem cells. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012;2012. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/</u> 2012/950658.
- [93] Cochrane CR, Szczepny A, Watkins DN, Cain JE. Hedgehog signaling in the maintenance of cancer stem cells. Cancers (Basel) 2015;7:1554–85. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers7030851</u>.
- [94] Ponnusamy L, Mahalingaiah PKS, Chang YW, Singh KP. Role of cellular reprogramming and epigenetic dysregulation in acquired chemoresistance in breast cancer. Cancer Drug Resist 2019;2:297–312. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.20517/cdr.2018.11</u>.
- [95] Zhang J, Yang C, Wu C, Cui W, Wang L. DNA methyltransferases in cancer: biology, paradox, aberrations, and targeted therapy. Cancers (Basel) 2020;12:1–22. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12082123</u>.
- [96] Fatma H, Maurya SK, Siddique HR. Epigenetic modifications of c-MYC: role in cancer cell reprogramming, progression and chemoresistance. Semin Cancer Biol 2022;83:166–76. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.11.008</u>.
- [97] Elango R, Vishnubalaji R, Shaath H, Alajez NM. Transcriptional alterations of protein coding and noncoding RNAs in triple negative breast cancer in response to DNA methyltransferases inhibition. Cancer Cell Int 2021;21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-021-02213-2.
- [98] Feng J, Meng X. Histone modification and histone modification-targeted anticancer drugs in breast cancer: fundamentals and beyond. Front Pharmacol 2022;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.946811</u>.
- [99] He DX, Gu F, Gao F, Hao JJ, Gong D, Gu XT, et al. Genome-wide profiles of methylation, microRNAs, and gene expression in chemoresistant breast cancer. Sci Rep 2016;6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24706</u>.

- [100] Liu Y, Chen C, Wang X, Sun Y, Zhang J, Chen J, et al. An epigenetic role of mitochondria in cancer. Cells 2022;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3390/cells11162518.
- [101] Keyvani-Ghamsari S, Khorsandi K, Rasul A, Zaman MK. Current understanding of epigenetics mechanism as a novel target in reducing cancer stem cells resistance. Clin Epigenet 2021;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13148-021-01107-4</u>.
- [102] Nepali K, Liou JP. Recent developments in epigenetic cancer therapeutics: clinical advancement and emerging trends. J Biomed Sci 2021;28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-021-00721-x.
- [103] Cheng Y, He C, Wang M, Ma X, Mo F, Yang S, et al. Targeting epigenetic regulators for cancer therapy: mechanisms and advances in clinical trials. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2019;4. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-019-0095-0</u>.
- [104] Kumar R, Mary Paul A, Rameshwar P, Pillai MR. Epigenetic dysregulation at the crossroad of women's cancer. Cancers (Basel) 2019;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11081193</u>.
- [105] Mekala JR, Naushad SM, Ponnusamy L, Arivazhagan G, Sakthiprasad V, Pal-Bhadra M. Epigenetic regulation of miR-200 as the potential strategy for the therapy against triple-negative breast cancer. Gene 2018;641:248–58. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2017.10.018</u>.
- [106] Zolota V, Tzelepi V, Piperigkou Z, Kourea H, Papakonstantinou E, Argentou MI, et al. Epigenetic alterations in triple-negative breast cancer—the critical role of extracellular matrix. Cancers (Basel) 2021;13:1–17. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers13040713</u>.
- [107] Rose M, Burgess JT, O'Byrne K, Richard DJ, Bolderson E, Inhibitors PARP. Clinical relevance, mechanisms of action and tumor resistance. Front Cell Dev Biol 2020;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.564601</u>.
- [108] Pascual T, Gonzalez-Farre B, Teixidó C, Oleaga L, Oses G, Ganau S, et al. Significant clinical activity of olaparib in a somatic BRCA1-mutated triplenegative breast cancer with brain metastasis. JCO Precis Oncol 2019;3:1–6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.19.00012</u>.
- [109] Robson M, Im SA, Senkus E, Xu B, Domchek SM, Masuda N, et al. Olaparib for metastatic breast cancer in patients with a germline BRCA mutation. N Engl J Med 2017;377:523-33. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEIMoa1706450</u>.
- [110] Turner NC, Telli ML, Rugo HS, Mailliez A, Ettl J, Grischke E-M, Mina LA. J.Final results of a phase 2 study of talazoparib (TALA) following platinum or multiple cytotoxic regimens in advanced breast cancer patients (pts) with germline BRCA1/2 mutations (ABRAZO). J Clin Oncol 2017;35:1007. doi: https://doi.org/10.1200/icc.2017.35.15\_suppl.1007.
- [111] Jain V, Kumar H. A journey of PARP inhibitors as therapeutic modalities in breast cancer. nanotechnology into reproductive Healthcare: from molecules to materials to modalities. ISSRF Newsl 2020:118–22. , http://www.issrf.org/ newsletters.
- [112] Sudhesh Dev S, Zainal Abidin SA, Farghadani R, Othman I, Naidu R. Receptor tyrosine kinases and their signaling pathways as therapeutic targets of curcumin in cancer. Front Pharmacol 2021;12. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2021.772510</u>.
- [113] Sobande F, Dušek L, Matějková A, Rozkoš T, Laco J, Ryška A. EGFR in triple negative breast carcinoma: significance of protein expression and high gene copy number. Cesk Patol 2015;51:80–6.
- [114] Fares J, Fares MY, Khachfe HH, Salhab HA, Fares Y. Molecular principles of metastasis: a hallmark of cancer revisited. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2020;5:28. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0134-x</u>.
- [115] Ji X, Lu Y, Tian H, Meng X, Wei M, Cho WC. Chemoresistance mechanisms of breast cancer and their countermeasures. Biomed Pharmacother 2019;114. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108800</u>.
- [116] Baselga J, Gómez P, Greil R, Braga S, Climent MA, Wardley AM, et al. Randomized phase II study of the anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody cetuximab with cisplatin versus cisplatin alone in patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:2586–92. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.46.2408</u>.
- [117] Carey LA, Rugo HS, Marcom PK, Mayer EL, Esteva FJ, Ma CX, et al. TBCRC 001: randomized phase II study of cetuximab in combination with carboplatin in stage IV triple-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:2615–23. doi: https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.34.5579.
- [118] Nabholtz JM, Abrial C, Mouret-Reynier MA, Dauplat MM, Weber B, Gligorov J, et al. Multicentric neoadjuvant phase II study of panitumumab combined with an anthracycline/taxane based chemotherapy in operable triple negative breast cancer: identification of biologically-defined signatures predicting treatment impact. Ann Oncol 2014;25:1570–7. doi: https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mdu183.
- [119] Tomao F, Papa A, Zaccarelli E, Rossi L, Caruso D, Minozzi M, et al. Triplenegative breast cancer: new perspectives for targeted therapies. Onco Targets Ther 2015;8:177–93. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S67673</u>.
- [120] Janjigian YY, Groen HJ, Horn L, Smit EF, Fu Y, Wang F, Shahidi M, Denis LJ, Pao W, Miller VA. Activity and tolerability of afatinib (BIBW 2992) and cetuximab in NSCLC patients with acquired resistance to erlotinib or gefitinib. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:7525. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/</u>ico.2011.29.15 suppl.7525.
- [121] Teng YHF, Tan WJ, Thike AA, Cheok PY, Tse GMK, Wong NS, et al. Mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) gene in triple negative breast cancer: possible implications for targeted therapy. Breast Cancer Res 2011;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2857</u>.

- [122] Santolla MF, Maggiolini M. The FGF/FGFR system in breast cancer: oncogenic features and therapeutic perspectives. Cancers (Basel) 2020;12:1–20. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12103029.
- [123] Tsimafeyeu I, Ludes-Meyers J, Stepanova E, Daeyaert F, Kochenkov D, Joose JB, et al. Targeting FGFR2 with alofanib (RPT835) shows potent activity in tumour models. Eur J Cancer 2016;61:20–8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2016.03.068</u>.
- [124] Turner N, Lambros MB, Horlings HM, Pearson A, Sharpe R, Natrajan R, et al. Integrative molecular profiling of triple negative breast cancers identifies amplicon drivers and potential therapeutic targets. Oncogene 2010;29:2013–23. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.489</u>.
- [125] Soria JC, DeBraud F, Bahleda R, Adamo B, Andre F, Dientsmann R, et al. Phase I/IIa study evaluating the safety, efficacy, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of lucitanib in advanced solid tumors. Ann Oncol 2014;25:2244–51. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu390</u>.
- [126] Hsu MJ, Chen HK, Lien JC, Huang YH, Huang SW. Suppressing VEGF-A/VEGFR-2 signaling contributes to the anti-angiogenic effects of PPE8, a novel naphthoquinone-based compound. Cells 2022;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells11132114</u>.
- [127] Kim HR, Jung KH, Im S-A, Im Y-H, Kang SY, Park KH, et al. Multicentre phase II trial of bevacizumab combined with docetaxel-carboplatin for the neoadjuvant treatment of triple-negative breast cancer (KCSG BR-0905). Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol 2013;24:1485–90. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/annonc/mds558</u>.
- [128] Symonds L, Linden H, Gadi V, Korde L, Rodler E, Gralow J, et al. Combined targeted therapies for first-line treatment of metastatic triple negative breast cancer—a phase II trial of weekly nab-paclitaxel and bevacizumab followed by maintenance targeted therapy with bevacizumab and erlotinib. Clin Breast Cancer 2019;19:e283–96. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.clbc.2018.12.008.</u>
- [129] Hu X, Zhang J, Xu B, Jiang Z, Ragaz J, Tong Z, et al. Multicenter phase II study of apatinib, a novel VEGFR inhibitor in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2014;135:1961–9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28829</u>.
- [130] Yang Y, Li S, Wang Y, Zhao Y, Li Q. Protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance in malignant tumors: molecular mechanisms and future perspective. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2022;7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-01168-8</u>.
- [131] Ortega MA, Fraile-Martínez O, Asúnsolo Á, Buján J, García-Honduvilla N, Coca S. Signal transduction pathways in breast cancer: the important role of PI3K/ Akt/mTOR. J Oncol 2020;2020. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9258396</u>.
- [132] Fouqué A, Jean M, van de Weghe P, Legembre P. Review of PI3K/mTOR inhibitors entering clinical trials to treat triple negative breast cancers. Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov 2016;11:283–96. doi: <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.2174/1574892811666160519113731.
- [133] Cossu-Rocca P, Orrù S, Muroni MR, Sanges F, Sotgiu G, Ena S, et al. Analysis of PIK3CA mutations and activation pathways in triple negative breast cancer. PLoS One 2015;10. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141763</u>.
- [134] Li Y, Zhan Z, Yin X, Fu S, Deng X. Targeted therapeutic strategies for triplenegative breast cancer. Front Oncol 2021;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fonc.2021.731535</u>.
- [135] Woo SU, Sangai T, Akcakanat A, Chen H, Wei C, Meric-Bernstam F. Vertical inhibition of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway is synergistic in breast cancer. Oncogenesis 2017;6:e385.
- [136] Bahrami A, Khazaei M, Hasanzadeh M, ShahidSales S, Joudi Mashhad M, Farazestanian M, et al. Therapeutic potential of targeting PI3K/AKT pathway in treatment of colorectal cancer: rational and progress. J Cell Biochem 2018;119:2460–9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.25950</u>.
- [137] Yu F, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhou Y, Guo R, Bai J, et al. The combination of NVP-BKM120 with trastuzumab or RAD001 synergistically inhibits the growth of breast cancer stem cells in vivo. Oncol Rep 2016;36:356–64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3892/or.2016.4799</u>.
- [138] Bendell JC, Rodon J, Burris HA, De Jonge M, Verweij J, Birle D, et al. Phase I, dose-escalation study of BKM120, an oral pan-class I PI3K inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:282–90. doi: https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.36.1360.
- [139] Klarenbeek S, van Miltenburg MH, Jonkers J. Genetically engineered mouse models of PI3K signaling in breast cancer. Mol Oncol 2013;7:146–64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2013.02.003</u>.
- [140] Collignon J, Lousberg L, Schroeder H, Jerusalem G. Triple-negative breast cancer: treatment challenges and solutions. Breast Cancer Targets Ther 2016;8:93–107. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/BCTT.S69488</u>.
   [141] Mo W, Liu Q, Lin CCJ, Dai H, Peng Y, Liang Y, et al. mTOR inhibitors suppress
- [141] Mo W, Liu Q, Lin CCJ, Dai H, Peng Y, Liang Y, et al. mTOR inhibitors suppress homologous recombination repair and synergize with PARP inhibitors via regulating SUV39H1 in BRCA-proficient triple-negative breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2016;22:1699–712. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1772</u>.
- [142] De Lint K, Poell JB, Soueidan H, Jastrzebski K, Rodriguez JV, Lieftink C, et al. Sensitizing triple-negative breast cancer to PI3K inhibition by cotargeting IGF1R. Mol Cancer Ther 2016;15:1545–56. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1535-7163.MCT-15-0865</u>.
- [143] Guo Y, Pan W, Liu S, Shen Z, Xu Y, Hu L. ERK/MAPK signalling pathway and tumorigenesis (Review). Exp Ther Med 2020. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/ etm.2020.8454</u>.

- [144] Kim S, Lee J, Jeon M, Lee JE, Nam SJ. MEK-dependent IL-8 induction regulates the invasiveness of triple-negative breast cancer cells. Tumor Biol 2016;37:4991–9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-015-4345-7</u>.
- [145] Bartholomeusz C, Xie X, Pitner MK, Kondo K, Dadbin A, Lee J, et al. MEK inhibitor selumetinib (AZD6244; ARRY-142886) prevents lung metastasis in a triple-negative breast cancer xenograft model. Mol Cancer Ther 2015;14:2773–81. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0243</u>.
- [146] Infante JR, Papadopoulos KP, Bendell JC, Patnaik A, Burris HA, Rasco D, et al. A phase 1b study of trametinib, an oral Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK) inhibitor, in combination with gemcitabine in advanced solid tumours. Eur J Cancer 2013;49:2077–85. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i. eica.2013.03.020</u>.
- [147] Lee A, Djamgoz MBA. Triple negative breast cancer: emerging therapeutic modalities and novel combination therapies. Cancer Treat Rev 2018;62:110–22. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.11.003</u>.
- [148] van der Noord VE, McLaughlin RP, Smid M, Foekens JA, Martens JWM, Zhang Y, et al. An increased cell cycle gene network determines MEK and Akt inhibitor double resistance in triple-negative breast cancer. Sci Rep 2019;9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49809-3</u>.
- [149] Luo J, Zou H, Guo Y, Tong T, Ye L, Zhu C, et al. SRC kinase-mediated signaling pathways and targeted therapies in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2022;24:99. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-022-01596-y</u>.
- [150] Belli S, Esposito D, Servetto A, Pesapane A, Formisano L, Bianco R. C-Src and EGFR inhibition in molecular cancer therapy: what else can we improve? Cancers (Basel) 2020;12:1–16. doi: <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3390/cancers12061489.
- [151] Kim EMH, Mueller K, Gartner E, Boerner J. Dasatinib is synergistic with cetuximab and cisplatin in triple-negative breast cancer cells. J Surg Res 2013;185:231–9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2013.06.041</u>.
- [152] Li C, lida M, Dunn EF, Ghia AJ, Wheeler DL. Nuclear EGFR contributes to acquired resistance to cetuximab. Oncogene 2009;28:3801–13. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.234</u>.
- [153] Lu Y, Chan YT, Tan HY, Li S, Wang N, Feng Y. Epigenetic regulation in human cancer: the potential role of epi-drug in cancer therapy. Mol Cancer 2020;19. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-020-01197-3</u>.
- [154] Yin L, Liu Y, Peng Y, Peng Y, Yu X, Gao Y, et al. PARP inhibitor veliparib and HDAC inhibitor SAHA synergistically co-target the UHRF1/BRCA1 DNA damage repair complex in prostate cancer cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2018;37:153. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0810-7</u>.
- [155] Ha K, Fiskus W, Choi DS, Bhaskara S, Cerchietti L, Devaraj SGT, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor treatment induces "BRCAness" and synergistic lethality with PARP inhibitor and cisplatin against human triple negative breast cancer cells. Oncotarget 2014;5:5637–50., 10.18632/oncotarget.2154.
- [156] Yu J, Zayas J, Qin B, Wang L. Targeting DNA methylation for treating triplenegative breast cancer. Pharmacogenomics 2019;20:1151–7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs-2019-0078</u>.
- [157] Kang HJ, Yi YW, Hou SJ, Kim HJ, Kong Y, Bae I, et al. Disruption of STAT3-DNMT1 interaction by SH-I-14 induces reexpression of tumor suppressor genes and inhibits growth of triple-negative breast tumor. Oncotarget 2017;8:83457-68., 10.18632/oncotarget.4054.
- [158] Stecklein SR, Kumaraswamy E, Behbod F, Wang W, Chaguturu V, Harlan-Williams LM, et al. BRCA1 and HSP90 cooperate in homologous and nonhomologous DNA double-strand-break repair and G2/M checkpoint activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:13650–5. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1203326109</u>.
- [159] Proia DA, Zhang C, Sequeira M, Jimenez JP, He S, Spector N, et al. Preclinical activity profile and therapeutic efficacy of the hsp90 inhibitor ganetespib in triple-negative breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2014;20:413–24. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2166</u>.
- [160] Guarneri V, Dieci MV, Conte P. Relapsed triple-negative breast cancer: challenges and treatment strategies. Drugs 2013;73:1257–65. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s40265-013-0091-6</u>.
- [161] Lam T, Mastos C, Sloan EK, Halls ML. Pathological changes in GPCR signal organisation: opportunities for targeted therapies for triple negative breast cancer. Pharmacol Ther 2023;241. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2022.108331</u>.
- [162] Gerratana L, Basile D, Buono G, De Placido S, Giuliano M, Minichillo S, et al. Androgen receptor in triple negative breast cancer: a potential target for the targetless subtype cancer. Cancer Treat Rev 2018;68:102–10. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.06.005</u>.
- [163] Schiewer MJ, Goodwin JF, Han S, Chad Brenner J, Augello MA, Dean JL, et al. Dual roles of PARP-1 promote cancer growth and progression. Cancer Discov 2012;2:1134-49. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0120.
- [164] Gucalp A, Tolaney S, Isakoff SJ, Ingle JN, Liu MC, Carey LA, et al. Phase II trial of bicalutamide in patients with androgen receptor-positive, estrogen receptornegative metastatic breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2013;19:5505–12. doi: https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3327.
- [165] Barton VN, D'Amato NC, Gordon MA, Lind HT, Spoelstra NS, Babbs BL, et al. Multiple molecular subtypes of triple-negative breast cancer critically rely on androgen receptor and respond to enzalutamide in vivo. Mol Cancer Ther 2015;14:769–78. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0926</u>.
- [166] Traina TA, Miller K, Yardley DA, Eakle J, Schwartzberg LS, O'Shaughnessy J, et al. Enzalutamide for the treatment of androgen receptor-expressing triplenegative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2018;36:884–90. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1200/[CO.2016.71.3495.</u>

H. Kumar, N. Vishal Gupta, R. Jain et al.

- [167] Lehmann BD, Bauer JA, Schafer JM, Pendleton CS, Tang L, Johnson KC, et al. PIK3CA mutations in androgen receptor-positive triple negative breast cancer confer sensitivity to the combination of PI3K and androgen receptor inhibitors. Breast Cancer Res 2014;16. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-014-0406-x</u>.
- [168] Hilborn E, Gacic J, Fornander T, Nordenskjöld B, Stal O, Jansson A. Androgen receptor expression predicts beneficial tamoxifen response in oestrogen receptor-α-negative breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2016;114:248–55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2015.464.
- [169] Speers C, Zhao SG, Santola A, Liu M, Wilder-Romans K, Alluri PG, et al. Androgen receptor (AR) as a mediator and biomarker of radioresistance in triple-negative breast cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol 2016;96:S17. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jirobp.2016.06.054</u>.
- [170] Cheung A, Bax HJ, Josephs DH, Ilieva KM, Pellizzari G, Opzoomer J, et al. Targeting folate receptor alpha for cancer treatment. Oncotarget 2016;7:52553–74. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.9651</u>.
- [171] Miller-Kleinhenz JM, Bozeman EN, Yang L. Targeted nanoparticles for imageguided treatment of triple-negative breast cancer: clinical significance and technological advances. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed NanoBiotechnol 2015;7:797–816. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wnan.1343</u>.
- [172] Fernández M, Javaid F, Chudasama V. Advances in targeting the folate receptor in the treatment/imaging of cancers. Chem Sci 2018;9:790–810. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c7sc04004k</u>.
- [173] Arora S, Trivedi R, Lamptey RNL, Chaulagain B, Layek B, Singh J. Smart biopolymers for controlled drug delivery applications. Tailor-Made Funct Biopolym Syst Drug Deliv Biomed Appl 2021:53–83. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-12-821437-4.00005-0</u>.
- [174] Kayani Z, Bordbar AK, Firuzi O. Novel folic acid-conjugated doxorubicin loaded β-lactoglobulin nanoparticles induce apoptosis in breast cancer cells. Biomed Pharmacother 2018;107:945–56. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2018.08.047</u>.
- [175] Wei CW, Yu YL, Chen YH, Hung YT, Yiang GT. Anticancer effects of methotrexate in combination with α-tocopherol and α-tocopherol succinate on triple-negative breast cancer. Oncol Rep 2019;41:2060–6. doi: https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2019.6958.
- [176] Silva AMN, Moniz T, de Castro B, Rangel M. Human transferrin: an inorganic biochemistry perspective. Coord Chem Rev 2021;449. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ccr.2021.214186</u>.
- [177] Buas MF, Rho JH, Chai X, Zhang Y, Lampe PD, Li Cl. Candidate early detection protein biomarkers for ER+/PR+ invasive ductal breast carcinoma identified using pre-clinical plasma from the WHI observational study. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2015;153:445–54. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-015-3554-</u>5
- [178] Tavano L, Muzzalupo R, Mauro L, Pellegrino M, Andò S, Picci N. Transferrinconjugated Pluronic niosomes as a new drug delivery system for anticancer therapy. Langmuir 2013;29:12638–46. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ la4021383</u>.
- [179] Gao W, Ye G, Duan X, Yang X, Yang VC. Transferrin receptor-targeted phsensitive micellar system for diminution of drug resistance and targetable delivery in multidrug-resistant breast cancer. Int J Nanomedicine 2017;12:1047-64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S115215</u>.
- [180] Mazzucchelli S, Truffi M, Baccarini F, Beretta M, Sorrentino L, Bellini M, et al. H-Ferritin-nanocaged olaparib: a promising choice for both BRCA-mutated and sporadic triple negative breast cancer. Sci Rep 2017;7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07617-7</u>.
- [181] Veitonmäki N, Hansson M, Zhan F, Sundberg A, Löfstedt T, Ljungars A, et al. A human ICAM-1 antibody isolated by a function-first approach has potent macrophage-dependent antimyeloma activity in vivo. Cancer Cell 2013;23:502–15. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.02.026.
- [182] Kotteas EA, Boulas P, Gkiozos I, Tsagkouli S, Tsoukalas G, Syrigos KN. The Intercellular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in lung cancer: implications for disease progression and prognosis. Anticancer Res 2014;34:4665–72.
- [183] Guo P, Yang J, Jia D, Moses MA, Auguste DT. ICAM-1-targeted, Lcn2 siRNAencapsulating liposomes are potent anti-angiogenic agents for triple negative breast cancer. Theranostics 2016;6:1–13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.7150/ thno.12167</u>.
- [184] Wang M, Liu W, Zhang Y, Dang M, Zhang Y, Tao J, et al. Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 antibody-mediated mesoporous drug delivery system for targeted treatment of triple-negative breast cancer. J Colloid Interface Sci 2019;538:630–7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2018.12.032</u>.
- [185] Guo P, Yang J, Liu D, Huang L, Fell G, Huang J, et al. Dual complementary liposomes inhibit triple-negative breast tumor progression and metastasis. Sci Adv 2019;5. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aav5010</u>.
- [186] Bouvet P. Nucleolin: a prognostic marker in cancer? Cancer Stud Ther 2019;4. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.31038/cst.2019118</u>.
- [187] Pesarrodona M, Sánchez-García L, Seras-Franzoso J, Sánchez-Chardi A, Baltá-Foix R, Cámara-Sánchez P, et al. Engineering a nanostructured nucleolinbinding peptide for intracellular drug delivery in triple-negative breast cancer stem cells. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2020;12:5381–8. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1021/acsani.9b15803</u>.
- [188] Fonseca NA, Rodrigues AS, Rodrigues-Santos P, Alves V, Gregório AC, Valério-Fernandes Å, et al. Nucleolin overexpression in breast cancer cell subpopulations with different stem-like phenotype enables targeted intracellular delivery of synergistic drug combination. Biomaterials 2015;69:76–88. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/i.biomaterials.2015.08.007.

- [189] Prickett WM, Van Rite BD, Resasco DE, Harrison RG. Vascular targeted singlewalled carbon nanotubes for near-infrared light therapy of cancer. Nanotechnology 2011;22. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/0957-4484/22/45/ 455101</u>.
- [190] Moura V, Lacerda M, Figueiredo P, Corvo ML, Cruz MEM, Soares R, et al. Targeted and intracellular triggered delivery of therapeutics to cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment: impact on the treatment of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2012;133:61–73. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10549-011-1688-7</u>.
- [191] Bonnefoi H, Grellety T, Tredan O, Saghatchian M, Dalenc F, Mailliez A, et al. A phase II trial of abiraterone acetate plus prednisone in patients with triplenegative androgen receptor positive locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer (UCBG 12–1). Ann Oncol 2016;27:812–8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/</u> annonc/mdw067.
- [192] Soe ZC, Thapa RK, Ou W, Gautam M, Nguyen HT, Jin SG, et al. Folate receptormediated celastrol and irinotecan combination delivery using liposomes for effective chemotherapy. Colloids Surf. B Biointerf 2018;170:718–28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.07.013.
- [193] Zhang L, Zhu D, Dong X, Sun H, Song C, Wang C, et al. Folate-modified lipidpolymer hybrid nanoparticles for targeted paclitaxel delivery. Int J Nanomed 2015;10:2101–14. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S77667</u>.
- [194] Du Nguyen V, Min HK, Kim CS, Han J, Park JO, Choi E. Folate receptor-targeted liposomal nanocomplex for effective synergistic photothermalchemotherapy of breast cancer in vivo. Colloids Surfa B Biointerfaces 2019;173:539–48. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.10.013</u>.
- [195] Tavassolian F, Kamalinia G, Rouhani H, Amini M, Ostad SN, Khoshayand MR, et al. Targeted poly (l-γ-glutamyl glutamine) nanoparticles of docetaxel against folate over-expressed breast cancer cells. Int J Pharm 2014;467:123–38. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.03.033</u>.
- [196] Alibolandi M, Abnous K, Hadizadeh F, Taghdisi SM, Alabdollah F, Mohammadi M, et al. Dextran-poly lactide-co-glycolide polymersomes decorated with folate-antennae for targeted delivery of docetaxel to breast adenocarcinima in vitro and in vito. J Control Release 2016;241:45–56. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.09.012</u>.
- [197] Muthu MS, Kutty RV, Luo Z, Xie J, Feng SS. Theranostic vitamin E TPGS micelles of transferrin conjugation for targeted co-delivery of docetaxel and ultra bright gold nanoclusters. Biomaterials 2015;39:234–48. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.biomaterials.2014.11.008</u>.
- [198] Zou P, Liu L, Zheng LD, Payne KK, Manjili MH, Idowu MO, et al. Coordinated upregulation of mitochondrial biogenesis and autophagy in breast cancer cells: the role of dynamin related protein-1 and implication for breast cancer treatment. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016;2016. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/</u> 2016/4085727.
- [199] Kjaerulff O, Brodin L, Jung A. The structure and function of endophilin proteins. Cell Biochem Biophys 2011;60:137–54. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12013-010-9137-5</u>.
- [200] Kannan A, Wells RB, Sivakumar S, Komatsu S, Singh KP, Samten B, et al. Mitochondrial reprogramming regulates breast cancer progression. Clin Cancer Res 2016;22:3348–60. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2456</u>.
- [201] Avagliano A, Ruocco MR, Aliotta F, Belviso I, Accurso A, Masone S, et al. Mitochondrial flexibility of breast cancers: a growth advantage and a therapeutic opportunity. Cells 2019;8:401. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells8050401</u>.
- [202] Brobbey AA, Jibira Y, Fuseini B, Nii-Lamptey R, Adu JK. Antioxidant and Hepatoprotective properties of Helianthus annuus seed extract against paracetamol-induced liver toxicity. J Phytopharm 2020;9:361–6. doi: https://doi.org/10.31254/phyto.2020.9512.
- [203] Pavlova NN, Thompson CB. The emerging hallmarks of cancer metabolism. Cell Metab 2016;23:27–47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006.
- [204] Wei Z, Liu X, Cheng C, Yu W, Yi P. Metabolism of amino acids in cancer. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.603837</u>.
- [205] Qiu F, Chen Y-R, Liu X, Chu C-Y, Shen L-J, Xu J, Gaur S, Forman HJ, Zhang H, Zheng S, Yen Y, Huang J, Kung H-J, Ann DK. Arginine starvation impairs mitochondrial respiratory function in ASS1-deficient breast cancer cells. Sci Signal 2014;7:ra31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2004761.
  [206] Cheng CT, Qi Y, Wang YC, Chi KK, Chung Y, Ouyang C, et al. Arginine
- [206] Cheng CT, Qi Y, Wang YC, Chi KK, Chung Y, Ouyang C, et al. Arginine starvation kills tumor cells through aspartate exhaustion and mitochondrial dysfunction. Commun Biol 2018;1. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0178-4</u>.
- [207] Cazzaniga M, Bonanni B. Breast cancer metabolism and mitochondrial activity: the possibility of chemoprevention with metformin. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/972193</u>.
- [208] Banerjee A, Birts CN, Darley M, Parker R, Mirnezami AH, West J, et al. Stem cell-like breast cancer cells with acquired resistance to metformin are sensitive to inhibitors of NADH-dependent CtBP dimerization. Carcinogenesis 2019;40:871–82. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgy174</u>.
- [209] Urra FA, Muñoz F, Córdova-Delgado M, Ramírez MP, Peña-Ahumada B, Rios M, et al. FR58P1a; a new uncoupler of OXPHOS that inhibits migration in triple-negative breast cancer cells via Sirt1/AMPK/β1-integrin pathway. Sci Rep 2018;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31367-9</u>.
- [210] Zhang B, Wang J, Huang Z, Wei P, Liu Y, Hao J, et al. Aberrantly upregulated trap1 is required for tumorigenesis of breast cancer. Oncotarget 2015;6:44495–508. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.6252</u>.
- [211] Kudelova E, Smolar M, Holubekova V, Hornakova A, Dvorska D, Lucansky V, et al. Genetic heterogeneity, tumor microenvironment and immunotherapy

in triple-negative breast cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2022;23:75390. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232314937</u>.

- [212] Peng D, Kryczek I, Nagarsheth N, Zhao L, Wei S, Wang W, et al. Epigenetic silencing of TH1-type chemokines shapes tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nature 2015;527:249–53. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature15520</u>.
- [213] Berghuis D, Santos SJ, Baelde HJ, Taminiau AHM, Maarten Egeler R, Schilham MW, et al. Pro-inflammatory chemokine-chemokine receptor interactions within the Ewing sarcoma microenvironment determine CD8+ T-lymphocyte infiltration and affect tumour progression. J Pathol 2011;223:347–57. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2819.
- [214] Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013</u>.
- [215] Peixoto P, Renaude E, Boyer-Guittaut M, Hervouet E. Epigenetics, a key player of immunotherapy resistance. Cancer Drug Resist. 2018. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.20517/cdr.2018.17</u>.
- [216] Wang LX, Mei ZY, Zhou JH, Yao YS, Li YH, Xu YH, et al. Low dose decitabine treatment induces CD80 expression in cancer cells and stimulates tumor specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. PLoS One 2013;8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062924</u>.
- [217] Loi S, Drubay D, Adams S, Pruneri G, Francis PA, Lacroix-Triki M, et al. Tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis: a pooled individual patient analysis of early-stage triple-negative breast cancers. J Clin Oncol 2019;37:559–69. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/ICO.18.01010</u>.
- [218] Schmid P, Rugo HS, Adams S, Schneeweiss A, Barrios CH, Iwata H, et al. Atezolizumab plus nab-paclitaxel as first-line treatment for unresectable, locally advanced or metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (IMpassion130): updated efficacy results from a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2020;21:44–59. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30689-8.
- [219] Adams S, Schmid P, Rugo HS, Winer EP, Loirat D, Awada A, et al. Pembrolizumab monotherapy for previously treated metastatic triplenegative breast cancer: cohort A of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study. Ann Oncol 2019;30:397–404. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy517</u>.
- [220] Adams S, Loi S, Toppmeyer D, Cescon DW, De Laurentiis M, Nanda R, et al. Pembrolizumab monotherapy for previously untreated, PD-L1-positive, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer: cohort B of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study. Ann Oncol 2019;30:405–11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/ mdv518</u>.
- [221] Nanda R, Liu MC, Yau C, Shatsky R, Pusztai L, Wallace A, Chien AJ, Forero-Torres A, Ellis E, Han H, Clark A, Albain K, Boughey JC, Jaskowiak NT, Elias A, Isaacs C, Kemmer K, Helsten T, Majure M, Stringer-Reasor E, Parker C, Lee MC, Haddad T, Cohen RN, Asare S, Wilson A, Hirst GL, Singhrao R, Steeg K, Asare A, Matthews JB, Berry S, Sanil A, Schwab R, Symmans WF, van 't Veer L, Yee D, DeMichele A, Hylton NM, Melisko M, Perlmutter J, Rugo HS, Berry DA, Esserman LJ. Effect of pembrolizumab plus neoadjuvant chemotherapy on pathologic complete response in women with early-stage breast cancer. [AMA Oncol 2020;6:676. doi: https://doi.org/10.1001/iamaoncol.2019.6650
- [222] Loibl S, Untch M, Burchardi N, Huober J, Sinn BV, Blohmer JU, et al. A randomised phase II study investigating durvalumab in addition to an anthracycline taxane-based neoadjuvant therapy in early triple-negative breast cancer: clinical results and biomarker analysis of GeparNuevo study. Ann Oncol 2019;30:1279–88. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz158.
- [223] Jiao S, Xia W, Yamaguchi H, Wei Y, Chen MK, Hsu JM, et al. PARP inhibitor upregulates PD-L1 expression and enhances cancer-associated immunosuppression. Clin Cancer Res 2017;23:3711–20. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3215</u>.
- [224] Briere D, Sudhakar N, Woods DM, Hallin J, Engstrom LD, Aranda R, et al. The class I/IV HDAC inhibitor mocetinostat increases tumor antigen presentation, decreases immune suppressive cell types and augments checkpoint inhibitor therapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2018;67:381–92. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00262-017-2091-y.</u>
- [225] Xie Y, Hu Y, Zhou N, Yao C, Wu L, Liu L, et al. CAR T-cell therapy for triplenegative breast cancer: where we are. Cancer Lett 2020;491:121–31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2020.07.044.
- [226] Liu D. CAR-T "the living drugs", immune checkpoint inhibitors, and precision medicine: a new era of cancer therapy. J Hematol Oncol 2019;12. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13045-019-0819-1</u>.
- [227] Abreu TR, Fonseca NA, Gonçalves N, Moreira JN. Current challenges and emerging opportunities of CAR-T cell therapies. J Control Release 2020;319:246–61. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.12.047</u>.
- [228] Dees S, Ganesan R, Singh S, Grewal IS. Emerging CAR-T cell therapy for the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2020;19:2409–21. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-20-0385</u>.
- [229] Xu C, Ju D, Zhang X. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy: challenges and opportunities in lung cancer. Antib Ther 2022;5:73–83. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/abt/tbac006</u>.
- [230] Nasiri F, Kazemi M, Mirarefin SMJ, Mahboubi Kancha M, Ahmadi Najafabadi M, Salem F, et al. CAR-T cell therapy in triple-negative breast cancer: Hunting the invisible devil. Front Immunol 2022;13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1018786</u>.

- [231] Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol 2016;14. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533</u>.
- [232] Mishra A, Lai GC, Yao LJ, Aung TT, Shental N, Rotter-Maskowitz A, et al. Microbial exposure during early human development primes fetal immune cells. Cell 2021;184:3394–3409.e20. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.cell.2021.04.039</u>.
- [233] Devoy C, Flores Bueso Y, Tangney M. Understanding and harnessing triplenegative breast cancer-related microbiota in oncology. Front Oncol 2022;12. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.1020121</u>.
- [234] Mezouar S, Chantran Y, Michel J, Fabre A, Dubus JC, Leone M, et al. Microbiome and the immune system: from a healthy steady-state to allergy associated disruption. Hum Microbiome J 2018;10:11–20. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humic.2018.10.001.
- [235] Cimino-Mathews A, Thompson E, Taube JM, Ye X, Lu Y, Meeker A, et al. PD-L1 (B7–H1) expression and the immune tumor microenvironment in primary and metastatic breast carcinomas. Hum Pathol 2016;47:52–63. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2015.09.003</u>.
- [236] Vitorino M, Baptista de Almeida S, Alpuim Costa D, Faria A, Calhau C, Azambuja Braga S. Human microbiota and immunotherapy in breast cancer a review of recent developments. Front Oncol 2022;11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fonc.2021.815772</u>.
- [237] Vétizou M, Pitt JM, Daillère R, Lepage P, Waldschmitt N, Flament C, et al. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science (80-) 2015;350:1079–84. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad1329</u>.
- [238] Sivan A, Corrales L, Hubert N, Williams JB, Aquino-Michaels K, Earley ZM, et al. Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science (80-) 2015;350:1084–9. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.aac4255</u>.



Hitesh Kumar- Mr. Kumar, is pursing Ph. D. degree under supervision of Dr. Vikas Jain (Associate Professor), at Department of Pharmaceutics, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education and Research, Mysuru, India. Mr. Kumar has research interest on the formulation development, nanoformulation preparations, evaluation of the anticancer drugs using in vitro and in vivo techniques.



Dr Vishal Kumar Gupta- Dr. Gupta is a Professor at Department of Pharmaceutics, JSS College of Pharmacy, Mysuru and Dean (Academics) at JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru. He is a member of various professional national and international organizations. His research interests are Hydrogels, Nanogels, Quality by Design and Validation. His professional objective is to work innovatively for the enhancement and betterment of Pharmacy education and Profession.



Dr Rupshee Jain- Dr. Jain is currently working as academician in the Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru. She is working on Analytical method development, Synthesis and Biological Evaluation of Heterocyclic compounds.



Dr. SubbaRao V. Madhunapantula- Dr. Madhunapantula, is a Professor of Cellular and Molecular Biology in the Center of Excellence in Molecular Biology and Regenerative Medicine (CEMR), Department of Biochemistry, JSS Medical College, JSS AHER, Mysuru. Dr. Madhunapantula worked on cancer and determined the role of PI3K-Akt signaling in the pathogenesis of skin cancers. In addition, he had characterized the mechanism of action of novel selenium containing compounds PBISe, ISC-4, Selenocoxib and SeISA. Furthermore, Dr. Madhunapantula worked on the identification of a natural product called leelamine for inhibiting advanced metastatic melanomas.



Dr. Saravana Babu- Dr Babu is working as Professor at Department of Pharmacology, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru worked to investigate the role of glutamate and calcium signaling in cerebral stroke. His research work focuses on the new drug targets and mechanisms of small molecules in Parkinson's, Alzheimer's diseases and sleep hygiene. Dr. Babu is currently working to understand how renin-angiotensin system modulates specific neurons and neural circuits and contribute to cognitive corrections in Parkinson's, Alzheimer's diseases and sleep restriction.



Dr. Siddharth S. Kesharwani- Dr. Siddharth S. Kesharwani is working as Assistant Professor at Roseman University of Health Sciences, South Jordan, Utah, USA. He has more than 47 scientific research papers/book chapters in renowned journals. His research interests are Structure-Based Drug Design and Discovery, Computational Molecular Biology, Molecular Docking and Molecular Visualization.



#### Journal of Advanced Research 54 (2023) 271-292

Dr. Surajit Dey- Dr. Dey is currently working as Professor in Roseman University of Health Sciences, College of Pharmacy, Henderson, Nevada, USA. He has more than 30 scientific research papers/book chapters in renowned journals. His research interests are Clinical Pharmacy, Pharmaceutical Development, Pharmaceutics, Formulation Development of Pharmaceuticals, Cornea Ocular Drug Delivery, and Pharmacokinetics.



Dr Vikas Jain-Dr Vikas Jain is currently working as Associate Professor in the Department of Pharmaceutics, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education & Research, Mysuru. He has published 35 scientific research papers. He is working on formulation and development of conventional formulations and nanomedicines. His area of works is breast cancer research, melanoma research, anticancer nanotherapeutics, targeted drug delivery, and lipid-based nanomedicines.